


FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS

To Our Shareholders

It would be easy to comment on our

economy our government tax policy corpo
rate scandals China the global steel environ

ment and more So much has been written and

discussed on these subjects by others more

informed or opinionated than that will stick

to thoughts strategies and facts regarding that

which know best Olympic Steel Inc

In June 1974 came into this impor
tant industry on the heels of the greatest price

movement in its history only to see the market

fall apart within the following six months

have lived and worked through the tremen

dous peaks and valleys in both demand and

pricing In the more than thirty-four years

have had the
privilege to work at Olympic

Steel have never seen the volatility as we
have seen this past year with prices moving

up over 100% during the year then falling over

50% by the end of the year

Regardless of the extreme move
ments in 2008 the strategies that Olympic

Steel has undertaken since emerging from

the last recession in 2003 have served this

company well They include

grow the business through inter

nally generated cash flow

increase market share through

accretive investments

manage expenses to 15% of

sales and

deploy capital to improve sustain

able margins and increase profits

We have been successful in these

objectives sometimes being criticized for

not using enough leverage to grow faster

and just not getting it in the era of high

investment banking fees high leverage on

balance sheets and historic high multiples

for acquisitions deemed accretive by acquir

ing managements

Olympic Steel entered 2008 with low

leverage healthy balance sheet extremely

high working capital turnover excellent cus
tomer service an outstanding safety record

fervent commitment to employee develop

ment and technology utilization and ended

the year in the same healthy condition

Let me highlight just some of our out

standing accomplishments achieved this

year First record sales of $1.23 billion and

record pre-tax profits of $107 million We
reduced our outstanding debt from peak to

trough by over 50% during the year from

$89.6 million to $40.2 million at year end

Our debt to equity ratio was 0.12 to and

debt to EBITDA ratio was at .36 to At the

same time we were reducing our debt we
increased our quarterly dividend by 25% and

declared special one-time dividend of

$1 per share during the year As one looks

at our balance sheet we are proud that we
have no derivative issues no off-balance

sheet entanglements no joint ventures no

defined benefit or pension obligations no

post retirement obligations and minimal

goodwill

In addition we had in 2008 our larg

est capital expenditure year at $34 million

Let me discuss some of the major investment

items for our growth We opened two new



facilities We purchased 8.5 acres and

62000 square foot facility in Dover Ohio

and leased facility in Baraga Michigan both

located closer to our customers for continued

rapid deliveries of our high value-added ser

vices We also added over 80000 square feet

to our existing Chambersburg Pennsylvania

facility and 54000 square feet to Bettendorf

Iowa with an additional purchase of 29 acres

contiguous to that property We have built

new office facility in Winder Georgia We

added numerous major processing capabili

ties in the Minneapolis Plate Minneapolis

Coil Cleveland and Milford Connecticut

facilities We converted many of our locations

to our owned truck fleet for both service

improvement and cost reduction We

upgraded nearly all of our office and locker

room facilities This effort was part of our 5S

sort set in orde shine standardize and

sustain improvement plan which is tar

geted method for organizing workplace

and has led to improvements in our safety

metrics While adding and improving our

investments we were mindful of eliminating

underutilized assets as we eliminated light

gauge cut-to-length line in Cleveland trap

line in Detroit and cut-to-length line in Min

neapolis We also have an agreement to sell

specific real estate in Michigan that no longer

fits into our plans Our quality and on-time

delivery initiatives show improvements and

we believe that we are the first steel service

center to achieve ISO 14001 sustainability

certifications at all of our facilities Our com
mitment to environmental sustainability is

also demonstrated by having our new Winder

Georgia office building achieve LEED

certification

None of these accomplishments are

achieved without outstanding efforts by real

people within our organization

want to thank all of our employees for

their outstanding efforts this year and

acknowledge few John Brieck was pro

moted to Regional Vice President in the

Southern Region Dan Shepard was pro

moted to General Manager of our Carolinas

Operation and Terry Rhode to General Man

ager of our Chicago facility We hired an expe

rienced Director of Human Resources Tom

Clevidence These promotions and positions

strengthened your organization substantially

We continue to invest in education having

graduated Rick Marabito Chief Financial

Officer and Steve Mallory Vice President

Central Region from the Metal Service Center

Institute Executive Education Program We

continue to invest in the Sol Siegal Education

Scholarship Program with seven new stu

dents and overall have 15 young men and

women participating

Of particular note Esther Potash

Chief Information Officer and her entire

MIS group deserve special recognition We

began the full implementation of our new

Steel Enterprise Management System

SEMS from Steelman Software Solution in

Januarç 2009 This accomplishment alone

would be deserving of special acknowledge

ment yet we also began complete disaster

recovery implementation equipped every

facility for the IT upgrade added security

measures to nearly all facilities converted

to new accounting system upgraded our

IT infrastructure and met continuing customer

requirements in an on time and on budget

parameteE The Steel Enterprise Manage
ment System SEMS project alone has been

31 months in preparation $9 million in cap
italized costs and numerous hours of time

invested in this outstanding milestone We

are confident that upon full implementation

Olympic will have the most profound informa

tion capabilities in our industry to carry our

Company forward Esther and her team



deserve great deal of appreciation for the

commitment and success of this project

Our commitment to the community

continues on even during these trying times

This year Olympic employees sponsored nine

wishes from our Make-A-Wish effort Olympic

and its employees also contributed to other

various charitable causes in 2008 including

University Hospitals Rainbow Babies

Children Hospital Susan Komen Breast

Cancer Foundation United Way and others

We enter 2009 in time of economic

uncertainty Financial markets have seized up

from both lack of confidence and liquidity

The amazing globalization phenomenon has

created extreme movements in business val

uations pricing mechanisms and confi

dences Information flow is instantaneous

creating challenges of absorption delibera

tion and decision making Issues of profound

and historical significance abound firmly

believe that all businesses have major

impact on their communities their employees

and families and an obligation to perform for

shareholders in responsible and ethical

manner This can as we know from recent

headlines be negative impact as easily as

positive one am proud of our value system

at Olympic Steel am proud of our employ
ees am proud and privileged to represent

you our shareholders each and every day

pledge my continued principled performance

to all our stakeholders Whether or not he was

your candidate of choice hope we all can

continue to support our new President and

his policies in bringing about swift effective

and sustainable economic recovery We cer

tainly need it

Sincerely

Michael Siegal

Chairman and CEO
March 23 2009
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

The Company

We are leading U.S steel service center with over 54 years of experience Our primary focus is on the direct

sale and distribution of large volumes of processed carbon coated and stainless flat-rolled sheet coil and plate steel

products We operate as an intermediary between steel producers and manufacturers that require processed steel for

their operations We provide services and functions that form an integral component of our customers supply chain

management reducing inventory levels and increasing efficiency thereby lowering their overall cost of production

Our processing services include both traditional service center processes of cutting-to-length slitting and shearing

and higher value-added processes of blanking tempering plate burning precision machining welding fabricating

and painting of steel parts

We operate as single business segment with 17 strategically-located processing and distribution facilities in

Connecticut Georgia Illinois Iowa Michigan Minnesota North Carolina Ohio Pennsylvania and South

Carolina This broad geographic footprint allows us to focus on regional customers and larger national and

multi-location accounts primarily located throughout the midwestern eastern and southern United States

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Ohio Our executive offices are located at 5096 Richmond

Road Cleveland Ohio 44146 Our telephone number is 216 292-3800 and our website address is

www.olysteel.com

Industry Overview

The steel industry is comprised of three types of entities steel producers intermediate steel processors and

steel service centers Steel producers have historically emphasized the sale of steel to volume purchasers and have

generally viewed intermediate steel processors and steel service centers as part of their customer base However all

three types of entities can compete for certain customers who purchase large quantities of steel Intermediate steel

processors tend to serve as processors in large quantities for steel producers and major industrial consumers of

processed steel including automobile and appliance manufacturers

Services provided by steel service centers can range from storage and distribution of unprocessed metal

products to complex precision value-added steel processing Steel service centers respond directly to customer

needs and emphasize value-added processing of steel pursuant to specific customer demands such as cutting-to-

length slitting shearing roll forming shape correction and surface improvement blanking tempering plate

burning and stamping These processes produce steel to specified lengths widths shapes and surface characteristics

through the use of specialized equipment Steel service centers typically have lower cost structures than and

provide services and value-added processing not otherwise available from steel producers

End product manufacturers and other steel users have increasingly sought to purchase steel on shorter lead

times and with more frequent and reliable deliveries than can normally be provided by steel producers Steel service

centers generally have lower labor costs than steel producers and consequently process
steel on more cost-

effective basis In addition due to this lower cost structure steel service centers are able to handle orders in

quantities smaller than would be economical for steel producers The benefits to customers purchasing products

from steel service centers include lower inventory levels lower overall cost of raw materials more timely response

and decreased manufacturing time and expense Customers also benefit from lower investment in buildings and

equipment which allows them to focus on the engineering and marketing of their products We believe that the

increasing prevalence of just-in-time delivery requirements has made the value-added inventory processing and

delivery functions performed by steel service centers increasingly important

Corporate History

Our company was founded in 1954 by the Siegal family as general steel service center Michael Siegal the

son of one of the founders began his career with us in the early 970s and has served as our Chief Executive Officer

since 1984 and as our Chairman of the Board of Directors since 1994 David Wolfort our President and Chief



Operating Officer joined us as General Manager in 1984 In the late 1980s our business strategy changed from

focus on warehousing and distributing steel from single facility with no major processing equipment to focus on

growth geographic and customer diversity and value-added processing An integral part of our growth has been the

acquisition and start-up of several processing and sales operations and the investment in processing equipment In

1994 we completed an initial public offering and in 1996 we completed follow-on offering of our common stock

Business Strategy and Objectives

We believe that the steel service center and processing industry is driven by four primary trends increased

outsourcing of manufacturing processes by domestic original equipment manufacturers ii shift by customers to

fewer suppliers that are both larger and financially strong iii increased customer demand for higher quality

products and services and iv consolidation and globalization of steel industry participants

In recognition of these industry dynamics our focus has been on achieving profitable growth through the

start-up acquisition and participation in service centers processors fabricators and related businesses and

investments in higher value-added processing equipment and services while continuing our commitment to

expanding and improving our sales and servicing efforts

We have focused on specific operating objectives including investing in automation and value-added

processing equipment ii controlling operating expenses in relation to sales and gross margins iiimaintaining

inventory turnover at approximately five times per year iv maintaining targeted cash turnover rates investing

in business information systems vi improving safety awareness and vii improving on-time delivery and quality

performance for our customers

These operating objectives are supported by

set of core values which is communicated practiced and measured throughout the company

Our flawless execution program Fe which is an internal program that empowers and recognizes

employees to achieve profitable growth by delivering superior customer service and exceeding customer

expectations

On-going business process enhancements and redesigns to improve efficiencies and reduce costs

New systems and key metric reporting to focus managers on achieving specific operating objectives

Alignment of compensation with the financial performance of the Company and the achievement of specific

operating objectives

We believe our depth of management facilities locations processing capabilities focus on safety quality and

customer service extensive and experienced sales force and the strength of our customer and supplier relationships

provide strong foundation for implementation of our strategy and achievement of our objectives Certain elements

of our strategy are set forth in more detail below

Investment In Value-Added Processing Equipment We have invested in processing and automation equip

ment to support customer demand and to respond to the growing trend among original equipment manufacturers

our customers to outsource non-core production processes such as plate processing machining welding and

fabrication and to concentrate on engineering design and assembly When the results of sales and marketing efforts

indicate that there is sufficient customer demand for particular product process or service we will purchase

equipment to satisfy that demand We also evaluate our existing equipment to ensure that it remains productive and

we upgrade replace redeploy or dispose of equipment when necessary

Investments in automated welding lines paint lines precision machining equipment blanking lines shot

blasters plate processing equipment and two customized temper mills with heavy gauge cut-to-length capabilities

have allowed us to further increase our higher value-added processing services In 2008 we purchased

62000 square foot building in Dover Ohio began construction of 110000 square foot facility in Sumter South

Carolina and began an 80000 square foot expansion of one of our Chambersburg Pennsylvania facilities in order to

be closer to our customers and provide just-in-time deliveries We added new stretcher-leveler in our Minneapolis

Coil facility and new high-definition plasma burners in Chambersburg and Winder These significant capital



expenditures will allow us to further expand our fabrication services We also began implementation of our new

business information system which is now operational in one of our largest divisions In 2007 we expanded our

Bettendorf Iowa facility by approximately 54000 square feet in order to meet our customers need for high quality

sheet product We also installed additional laser and plasma cutting equipment and machining centers in Cleveland

Chicago Chambersburg Winder and Suer City to support our growing value-added services

Sales And Marketing We believe that our commitment to quality service just-in-time delivery and field

sales personnel has enabled us to build and maintain strong customer relationships We continuously analyze our

customer base to ensure that strategic customers are properly targeted and serviced while focusing our efforts to

supply and service our larger customers on national account basis where we successfully service multi-location

customers from multi-location Olympic facilities In addition we offer business solutions to our customers through

value-added and value-engineered services We also provide inventory stocking programs and in-plant employees

located at certain customer locations to help reduce customers costs During 2007 and 2008 we expanded our

owned truck fleet to further enhance our just-in-time deliveries based on our customers requirements

Our Fe program is commitment to provide superior customer service while striving to exceed customer

expectations This program includes tracking actual on-time delivery and quality performance against objectives

and recognition of initiatives to improve efficiencies streamline processes or reduce operating expenses at each

operation

We believe our sales force is among the largest and most experienced in the industry The sales force makes

direct daily sales calls to customers throughout the continental United States The continuous interaction between

our sales force and active and prospective customers provides us with valuable market information and sales

opportunities including opportunities for outsourcing improving customer service and increased sales

Our sales efforts are further supported by metallurgical engineers technical service personnel and product

specialists who have specific expertise in carbon and stainless steel alloy plate and steel fabrication Our

e-commerce services include extranet pages for specific customers that are integrated with our internal business

systems to provide cost efficiencies for both us and our customers

Management We believe one of our strengths is the depth and experience of our management team In

addition to our executive officers members of our senior management team have diversity of backgrounds within

the steel industry including management positions at steel producers and other steel service centers They average

25 years of experience in the steel industry and 14 years with our company

Products Processing Services and Quality Standards

We maintain substantial inventory of coil and plate steel Coil is in the form of continuous sheet typically

36 to 96 inches wide between 0.015 and 0.625 inches thiclc and rolled into 10 to 30 ton coils Because of the size

and weight of these coils and the equipment required to move and process them into smaller sizes such coils do not

meet the requirements without further processing of most customers Plate is typically thicker than coil and is

processed by laser plasma or oxygen burning

Customer orders are entered or electronically transmitted into computerized order entry systems and

appropriate inventory is then selected and scheduled for processing in accordance with the customers specified

delivery date We attempt to maximize yield by combining customer orders for processing each coil or plate to the

fullest extent practicable

Our services include both traditional service center processes of cutting-to-length slitting and shearing and

higher value-added
processes

of blanking tempering plate burning precision machining welding fabricating and

painting to process steel to specified lengths widths and shapes pursuant to specific customer orders Cutting-to-

length involves cutting steel along the width of the coil Slitting involves cutting steel to specified widths along the

length of the coil Shearing is the process of cutting sheet steel Blanking cuts the steel into specific shapes with

close tolerances Tempering improves the uniformity of the thickness and flatness of the steel through cold rolling

process Plate burning is the process of cutting steel into specific shapes and sizes Our machining activities include

drilling bending milling tapping boring and sawing Our fabrication activities include additional machining

welding assembly and painting of component parts



The following table sets forth as of December 31 2008 the major pieces of processing equipment by

geographic region

Eastern Southern Central

Processing Equipment Region Region Region Michigan Thtal

Cutting-to-length 13

Blanking

Tempering

Plate processing 16 10 22 48

Slitting

Shearing

Machining 21 13 34

Painting

Shot blasting/grinding

Total 53 29 35 124

Consists of nine facilities located in Ohio Connecticut Illinois and Pennsylvania

Consists of three facilities located in Georgia North Carolina and South Carolina

Consists of four facilities located in Michigan Minnesota and Iowa

Consists of single facility in Detroit Michigan

Our quality assurance system establishes controls and procedures covering all aspects of our products from the

time the material is ordered through receipt processing and shipment to the customer These controls and

procedures encompass periodic supplier audits meetings with customers inspection criteria traceability and

certification In addition 14 of our 17 facilities have earned ISO 90012000 certifications The Detroit operation has

earned Fords Q-l quality rating and is also ISO 14001 and TS-16949 certified We have met the requirements for

ISO 14001 environmental management in 14 of our 17 facilities We are continuing the ISO 90012000 and

ISO 14001 certification processes at our three newest facilities in Dover Ohio Sumter South Carolina and Baraga

Michigan We have quality testing lab adjacent to our temper mill facility in Cleveland

Customers and Distribution

We have diverse customer and geographic base which helps to reduce the inherent risk and cyclicality of our

business Net sales to our top three customers in the aggregate approximated 12% and 13% of our net sales in 2008

and 2007 respectively We serve customers in most carbon steel consuming industries including manufacturers and

fabricators of transportation and material handling equipment construction and farm machinery storage tanks

environmental and energy generation equipment automobiles food service and electrical equipment military

vehicles and equipment as well as general and plate fabricators and steel service centers Sales to the three largest

U.S automobile manufacturers and their suppliers made principally by our Detroit operation and sales to other

steel service centers accounted for approximately 8.5% and 10% respectively of our net sales in 2008 and 8.5%

and 9% respectively of our net sales in 2007

While we ship products throughout the United States most of our customers are located in the midwestern

eastern and southern regions of the United States Most domestic customers are located within 250-mile radius of

one of our processing facilities thus enabling an efficient delivery system capable of handling high frequency of

short lead-time orders We transport most of our products directly to customers via third-party trucking firms

However our expanding in-house truck fleet further enhances our just-in-time deliveries based on our customers

requirements Products sold to foreign customers which have been immaterial to our consolidated results are

shipped either directly from the steel producers to the customer or to an intennediate
processor

and then to the

customer by rail truck or ocean carrier



We process our steel to specific customer orders as well as for stocking programs Many of our larger

customers commit to purchase on regular basis at agreed upon prices for periods ranging from three to twelve

months To help mitigate price volatility risks these fixed price commitments are generally matched with

corresponding supply arrangements Customers notify us of specific release dates as the processed products are

required Customers typically notify us of release dates anywhere from ajust-in-time basis to one month before the

release date Therefore we are required to carry sufficient inventory to meet the short lead time and just-in-time

delivery requirements of our customers

Raw Materials

Our principal raw material is flat rolled carbon coated and stainless steel that we typically purchase from

multiple primary steel producers The steel industry as whole is cyclical and at times pricing and availability of

steel can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond our control including general domestic and global economic

conditions labor costs sales levels competition consolidation of steel producers fluctuations in the costs of raw

materials necessary to produce steel import duties and tariffs and currency exchange rates This volatility can

significantly affect the availability and cost of raw materials for us

Inventory management is key profitability driver in the steel service center industry We like many other steel

service centers maintain substantial inventories of steel to accommodate the short lead times and just-in-time

delivery requirements of our customers Accordingly we purchase steel in an effort to maintain our inventory at

levels that we believe to be appropriate to satisfy the anticipated needs of our customers based upon historic buying

practices contracts with customers and market conditions Our commitments to purchase steel are generally at

prevailing market prices in effect at the time we place our orders We have no long-term fixed-price steel purchase

contracts When steel prices increase competitive conditions will influence how much of the price increase we can

pass on to our customers When steel prices decline customer demands for lower prices and our competitors

responses to those demands could result in lower sale prices and consequently lower margins and earnings as we

use existing steel inventory

Suppliers

We concentrate on developing supply relationships with high-quality steel producers using coordinated

effort to be the customer of choice for business critical suppliers We employ sourcing strategies maximizing the

quality production and transportation economies of global supply base We are an important customer of flat-

rolled coil and plate for many of our principal suppliers but we are not dependent on any one supplier We purchase

in bulk from steel producers in quantities that are efficient for such producers This enables us to maintain

continued source of supply at what we believe to be competitive prices We believe the accessibility and proximity

of our facilities to major domestic steel producers combined with our long-standing and continuous prompt pay

practices will continue to be an important factor in maintaining strong relationships with steel suppliers We

purchase flat-rolled steel at regular intervals from number of domestic and foreign producers of primary steel

In recent years the steel producing supply base has experienced significant consolidation with few suppliers

accounting for majority of the domestic carbon steel market Collectively we purchased approximately 46% and

45% of our total steel requirements from our three largest suppliers in 2008 and 2007 respectively Although we

have no long-term supply commitments we believe we have good relationships with each of our steel suppliers If

in the future we are unable to obtain sufficient amounts of steel on timely basis we may not be able to obtain steel

from alternate sources at competitive prices In addition interruptions or reductions in our supply of steel could

make it difficult to satisfy our customers just-in-time delivery requirements which could have material adverse

effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Competition

Our principal markets are highly competitive We compete with other regional and national steel service

centers single location service centers and to certain degree steel producers and intermediate steel processors on

regional basis We have different competitors for each of our products and within each region We compete on the



basis of price product selection and
availability customer service quality and geographic proximity Certain of our

competitors have greater financial and operating resources than we have

With the exception of certain Canadian operations foreign-located steel service centers are generally not

material competitive factor in our principal domestic markets

Management Information Systems

Information
systems are an important component of our strategy We have invested in technologies and human

resources required in this area and expect to make substantial further investments in the future We currently
maintain

separate regional computer-based systems in the operation of our business and we depend on these

systems to significant degree particularly for inventory management

Our information systems focus on the following core application areas

Inventory Management Our information systems track the status of inventories by location on daily basis

This information is essential in allowing us to closely monitor and manage our inventory

Differentiated Services To Customers Our information
systems allow us to provide value-added services to

customers including quality control and on-time delivery monitoring and reporting just-in-time inventory

management and shipping services and EDT communications

Internal Communications We believe that our ability to quickly and efficiently share information across our

operations is critical to our success We have invested in various communications data warehouses and workgroup

technologies which enable managers and employees to remain effective and responsive

E-Commerce and Advanced Customer Interaction We are actively involved in electronic commerce

initiatives including both our own sponsored initiatives and participation in customer e-procurement initiatives

We have implemented extranet sites for specific customers which are integrated with our internal business systems

to streamline the costs and time associated with processing electronic transactions

System and Process Enhancements We have completed development of an enterprise-wide ERP system
alternative to replace our legacy information systems and we successfully initiated use of this system at one of our

largest divisions with multiple physical facilities on January 2009 We are proceeding to roll out this system to

our other divisions to take advantage of streamlined business
processes enhanced cost information and improved

support capability

We continue to actively seek opportunities to utilize information technologies to reduce costs and improve
services within our organization and across the steel supply chain This includes working with individual steel

producers and customers and participating in industry sponsored groups to develop information
processing

standards to benefit those in the supply chain

We also continue to pursue business
process improvements to standardize and streamline order fulfillment

improve efficiency and reduce costs Our business systems analysts work with our ISO quality team to evaluate all

opportunities that may yield savings and better service to our customers

To provide continuous use of our systems and for security of our technology and information investments in

case of physical emergency or threat we initiated development of secure duplicate off-site computing facility

Our new ERP system and accounting system are currently duplicated at this site with the migration of our other

systems now in progress

Employees

At December 31 2008 we employed approximately 1140 people of which approximately 175 of the hourly

plant personnel at our Minneapolis and Detroit facilities are represented by four separate collective bargaining

units

collective bargaining agreement covering approximately five Detroit maintenance workers was extended to

July 31 2009 Collective bargaining agreements covering Minneapolis and other Detroit employees expire in 2009



and subsequent years including contract covering Minneapolis plate facility employees which expires at the end

of March 2009 We have never experienced work stoppage and we believe that our relationship with employees is

good However any prolonged work stoppages by our personnel represented by collective bargaining units could

have material adverse impact on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Service Marks Trade Names and Patents

We conduct our business under the name Olympic Steel provision of federal law grants exclusive rights to

the word Olympic to the U.S Olympic Committee The U.S Supreme Court has recognized however that certain

users may be able to continue to use the word based on long-term and continuous use We have used the name

Olympic Steel since 1954 but are prevented from registering the name Olympic and from being qualified to do

business as foreign corporation under that name in certain states In such states we have registered under different

names including Oly Steel and Olympia Steel Our wholly-owned subsidiary Olympic Steel Lafayette Inc

does business in certain states under the names Olympic Steel Detroit Lafayette Steel and Processing and

Lafayette Steel Our operation in Georgia does business under the name Southeastern Metal Processing and our

operation in North Carolina conducts business under the name Olympic Steel North Carolina

We also hold trademark for our stainless steel sheet and plate product OLY-FLATBRITE which has

unique combination of surface finish and flatness

Government Regulation

Our operations are governed by many laws and regulations including those relating to workplace safety and

worker health principally the Occupational Safety and Health Act and regulations thereunder We believe that we

are in material compliance with these laws and regulations and do not believe that future compliance with such laws

and regulations will have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and

cash flows

Environmental

Our facilities are subject to certain federal state and local requirements relating to the protection of the

environment We believe that we are in material compliance with all environmental laws do not anticipate any

material expenditures to meet environmental requirements and do not believe that compliance with such laws and

regulations will have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash

flows

Effects of Inflation

Inflation generally affects us by increasing the cost of employee wages and benefits transportation services

processing equipment purchased steel energy and borrowings under our credit facility General inflation

excluding the increased price of steel and increased distribution expense has not had material effect on our

financial results during the past three years

Backlog

Because we conduct our operations generally on the basis of short-term orders we do not believe that backlog

is meaningful indicator of future performance

Available Information

We file annual quarterly and current reports proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC at the SECs

Public Reference Room at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C 20549 The public may obtain information on the

operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at -800-SEC-0330 Also the SEC maintains an

Internet website that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers



that file electronically with the SEC The public can obtain any documents that are filed by the Company at

http//www.sec.gov

In addition this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports

on Form 8-K and any amendments to all of the foregoing reports are made available free of charge on or through the

Investor Relations section of our website www.olysteel.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports

are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC

Information relating to corporate governance at Olympic Steel including its Business Ethics Policy infor

mation concerning executive officers directors and Board committees including committee charters and

transactions in Olympic Steel securities by directors and officers is available free of charge on or through the

Investor Relations section of our website at www.olysteel.com We are not including the information on our

website as part of or incorporating it by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and other documents we file with the SEC contain various forward-looking

statements that are based on current expectations estimates forecasts and projections about our future perfor

mance business our beliefs and our managements assumptions In addition we or others on our behalf may make

forward-looking statements in
press

releases or written statements or in our communications and discussions with

investors and analysts in the normal course of business through meetings conferences webcasts phone calls and

conference calls Words such as may will anticipate should intend expect believe estimate

project plan potential and continue as well as the negative of these terms or similar expressions are

intended to identify forward-looking statements which are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and

uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those implied by such statements

including but not limited to those set forth in Item 1A Risk Factors below and the following

general and global business economic financial and political conditions including the ongoing global

credit crisis

access to global credit markets

competitive factors such as the availability and pricing of steel industry inventory levels and rapid

fluctuations in customer demand and steel pricing

the cyclicality and volatility within the steel industry

the ability of our customers especially those that may be highly leveraged those in the domestic automotive

industry and those with inadequate liquidity to absorb future steel price increases and/or maintain their

credit availability during periods of rapidly increasing steel prices

customer supplier and competitor consolidation bankruptcy or insolvency

layoffs or work stoppages by our own or our suppliers or customers personnel

the availability and costs of transportation and logistical services

equipment malfunctions or installation delays

the amounts and successes of our capital investments including the construction of new facility in Sumter

South Carolina the expansion of our facility in Chambersburg Pennsylvania and the start-up of our new

satellite facility in Dover Ohio

the successes of our strategic efforts and initiatives to increase sales volumes maintain or improve working

capital turnover and free cash flows reduce costs and debt levels and improve customer service

the adequacy of our existing information technology and business system software

the successful implementation of our new enterprise-wide information system



the timing and outcome of OLPs efforts and ability to liquidate its remaining assets and

our ability to pay regular quarterly cash dividends and the amounts and timing of any future dividends

Should one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize or should underlying assumptions prove

incorrect actual results may vary materially from those anticipated intended expected believed estimated

projected or planned You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which

speak only as of the date hereof We undertake no obligation to republish revised forward-looking statements to

reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events or circumstances after the date hereof except as otherwise required

by law

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this Annual Report and our otherfilings with the SEC thefollowing risk

factors should be carefully considered in evaluating us and our business before investing in our common stock The

risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us Additional risks and uncertainties not

presently known to us or otherwise may also impair our business If any of the risks actually occui our business

financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected In that case the trading

price of our common stock could decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment

Risks Related to our Business

Volatile steel prices can cause significant fluctuations in our operating results Our sales and operating
income could decrease if steel prices decline or if we are unable to pass producer price increases on to

our customers

Our principal raw material is flat-rolled carbon coated and stainless steel that we typically purchase from

multiple primary steel producers The steel industry as whole is cyclical and at times pricing and availability of

steel can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond our control including general domestic and international

economic conditions labor costs sales levels competition levels of inventory held by other steel service centers

consolidation of steel producers higher raw material costs for the producers of steel import duties and tariffs and

currency exchange rates This volatility can significantly affect the availability and cost of raw materials for us

We like many other steel service centers maintain substantial inventories of steel to accommodate the short

lead times and just-in-time delivery requirements of our customers Accordingly we purchase steel in an effort to

maintain our inventory at levels that we believe to be appropriate to satisfy the anticipated needs of our customers

based upon historic buying practices contracts with customers and market conditions Our commitments to

purchase steel are generally at prevailing market prices in effect at the time we place our orders We have no long-

term fixed-price steel purchase contracts When steel prices increase competitive conditions will influence how
much of the price increase we can pass on to our customers To the extent we are unable to pass on future price

increases in our raw materials to our customers the net sales and profitability of our business could be adversely

affected When steel prices decline as they did in the fourth
quarter of 2008 customer demands for lower prices and

our competitors responses to those demands could result in lower sale prices and consequently lower margins as

we use existing steel inventory Steel prices are expected to continue to decline in 2009 and further declines in steel

prices or further reductions in sales volumes could adversely impact our ability to remain in compliance with certain

financial covenants in our revolving credit facility as well as result in us incurring inventory or goodwill impairment

charges Changing steel prices therefore could significantly impact our net sales gross margins operating income

and net income

China is large consumer of steel and steel products which are integral to its current large scale industrial

expansion This large and growing demand for steel by China has significantly affected the global steel industry

Actions by domestic and foreign producers including steel companies in China to increase production could result

in an increased supply of steel in the United States which could result in lower prices for our products Further

should China experience an economic downturn or slowing of its growth its steel consumption could decrease and
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some of the supply it currently uses could be diverted to the U.S markets we serve which could depress steel prices

decline in steel prices could adversely affect our sales margins and profitability

We service industries that are highly cyclical and any downturn in our customers demand could reduce

our sales margins and profitability

We sell our products in variety of industries including capital equipment manufacturers for industrial

agricultural and construction use the automotive industry and manufacturers of fabricated metal products Our

largest category of customers is producers of industrial machinery and equipment Numerous factors such as

general economic conditions availability of adequate credit and financing consumer confidence significant

business interruptions labor shortages or work stoppages energy prices seasonality customer inventory levels and

other factors beyond our control may cause significant demand fluctuations from one or more of these industries

Any decrease in demand within one or more of these industries may be significant and may last for lengthy period

of time In periods of economic slowdown or recession in the United States and downturns in demand as we have

experienced in the fourth quarter of 2008 and in 2009 excess customer or service center inventory or decrease in

the prices that we can realize from sales of our products to customers in any of these industries could result in lower

sales margins and profitability

Approximately 8.5% of our 2008 sales were to automotive manufacturers or manufacturers of automotive

components and parts whom we refer to as automotive customers Historically due to the concentration of

customers in the automotive industry our gross margins on these sales have generally been less than our margins on

sales to customers in other industries The continued difficulties faced by domestic automotive customers has

further challenged its supply base In addition the precarious nature of the financial position of many domestic

automotive customers has caused us to forego sales due to credit concerns We do not expect the problems faced by

our domestic automotive customers to significantly improve in the near future If we are unable to generate

sufficient future cash flow on our sales to automotive customers we may be have additional bad debt losses and we

may be required to record an impairment charge against the assets that are used to service those customers

Customer credit constraints and credit losses could have material adverse effect on our results of

operations

In climates of global financial and banking crises such as those we experienced in 2008 and expect to continue

in 2009 decreased sales volume and consolidation among capital providers to the steel industry the ability of our

customers to maintain credit availability has become more challenging In particular certain customers in the

automotive industry and companies that are highly leveraged represent an increasing credit risk Some customers

have reduced their purchases because of these credit constraints Moreover our disciplined credit policies have in

some instances resulted in lost sales In recent years we have experienced an increase in customer bankruptcies and

could see further increases in 2009 if credit availability becomes further constrained Were we to lose sales or

customers due to these actions or if we have misjudged our credit estimations and they result in future credit losses

there could be material adverse effect on business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our success is dependent upon our relationships with certain key Łustomers

We have derived and expect to continue to derive significant portion of our revenues from relatively limited

number of customers Collectively our top three customers accounted for approximately 12% and 13% of our

revenues in 2008 and 2007 respectively Many of our larger customers commit to purchase on regular basis at

agreed upon prices ranging for periods from three to twelve months We generally do not have long-term contracts

with our customers As result the relationship as well as particular orders can generally be terminated with

relatively little advance notice The loss of any one of our major customers or decrease in demand by those

customers or credit constraints placed on them could have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition or results of operations
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Our implementation of new information system could adversely affect our results of operations and

cash flows

In July 2006 we announced the initiation of project to implement new enterprise-wide information system

consolidating our legacy operating systems into an integrated system The objective is to standardize and streamline

business processes and improve support for our growing service center and fabrication business Risks associated

with the phased-implementation include but are not limited to

significant deployment of capital and significant use of management and employee time

the possibility that the software vendor may not be able to complete the project as planned

the possibility that the timeline costs or complexities related to the new system implementation will be

greater than expected

the possibility that the software once fully implemented does not work as planned

the possibility that benefits from the new system may be lower or take longer to realize than expected

the possibility that disruptions from the implementation may make it difficult for us to maintain relationships

with our respective customers employees or suppliers and

limitations on the availability and adequacy of the proprietary software or consulting training and project

management services as well as our ability to retain key personnel assigned to the project

Although we successfully initiated use of the new system at one of our larger locations with multiple physical

facilities in January 2009 we can provide no assurance that the rollout to the remaining divisions will be successful

or will occur as planned and without disruption to operations Difficulties associated with the design and

implementation of the new information system
could adversely affect our business our customer service our

results of operations and our cash flows

The failure of our key computer-based systems could have material adverse effect on our business

We currently maintain separate regional computer-based systems in the operation of our business and we

depend on these systems to significant degree particularly for inventory management These systems are

vulnerable to among other things damage or interruption from fire flood tornado and other natural disasters

power loss computer system and network failures operator negligence physical and electronic loss of data or

security breaches and computer viruses The destruction or failure of any one of our computer-based systems for

any significant period of time could materially adversely affect our business financial condition results of

operations and cash flows

We depend on our senior management team and the loss of any member could prevent us from imple

menting our business strategy

Our success is dependent upon the management and leadership skills of our senior management team We have

employment agreements which include non-competition provisions with our Chief Executive Officer President

and Chief Operating Officer and our Chief Financial Officer that expire on January 2010 January 2011 and

January 2012 respectively The loss of any member of our senior management team or the failure to attract and

retain additional qualified personnel could prevent us from implementing our business strategy and continuing to

grow our business at rate necessary to maintain future profitability

Labor disruptions at any of our facilities or those of major customers could adversely affect our busi

ness results of operations and financial condition

At December 31 2008 we employed approximately 1140 people of which approximately 175 of the hourly

plant personnel at our Minneapolis and Detroit facilities are represented by four separate collective bargaining

units collective bargaining agreement covering approximately five Detroit maintenance workers was extended to

July 31 2009 Collective bargaining agreements covering Minneapolis and other Detroit employees expire in 2009

and subsequent years including contract covering Minneapolis plate facility employees which expires at the end
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of March 2009 Any prolonged work stoppages by our personnel represented by collective bargaining units could

have material adverse impact on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

In addition many of our larger customers including those in the automotive industry have unionized

workforces and some in the past have experienced significant labor disruptions such as work stoppages slow-downs

and strikes labor disruption at one or more of our major customers could interrupt production or sales by that

customer and cause that customer to halt or limit orders for our products Any such reduction in the demand for our

products could adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

We expect to finance our future growth through borrowings under our credit facility We may have diffi

culty in obtaining sufficient sources of finance Additionally increased leverage could adversely impact

our business and results of operations

Our $130 million revolving credit facility matures on December 15 2011 Due to the global financial and

banking crisis it may be difficult for us in the future to obtain the
necessary funds and liquidity to run and expand

our business

Additionally if we incur substantial additional debt under our credit facility or otherwise to finance future

growth our leverage could increase as could the risks associated with such leverage high degree of leverage

could have important consequences to us For example it could

increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions

require us to dedicate substantial portion of cash from operations to the payment of debt service thereby

reducing the availability of cash to fund working capital capital expenditures dividends and other general

corporate purposes

limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capital expenditures general corporate

purposes or acquisitions

place us at disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged and

limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and in the steel industry

An interruption in the sources of our steel supply could have material adverse effect on our results of

operations

In recent years the steel producing supply base has experienced significant consolidation with few domestic

producers accounting for majority of the domestic steel market Collectively we purchased approximately 46%
and 45% of our total steel requirements from our three largest suppliers in 2008 and 2007 respectively The number

of available suppliers could be reduced in the future by factors such as further industry consolidation or

bankruptcies affecting steel suppliers Additionally fewer available suppliers increases the risk of supply disruption

through both scheduled and unscheduled mill outages Supply disruption risk has been further increased by the

planned reductions of steel production in the United States during the fourth quarter of 2008 and first quarter of

2009 and the historically low levels of inventory held at steel service centers We have no long-term supply

commitments with our steel suppliers If in the future we are unable to obtain sufficient amounts of steel on

timely basis we may not be able to obtain steel from alternate sources at competitive prices In addition

interruptions or reductions in our supply of steel could make it difficult to satisfy our customers just-in-time

delivery requirements which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of

operations and cash flows

Risks associated with our growth strategy may adversely impact our ability to sustain our growth

Historically we have grown internally by increasing sales and services to our existing customers aggressively

pursuing new customers and services building new facilities and acquiring and upgrading processing equipment in

order to expand the range of value-added services we offer In addition we have grown through external expansion

by the acquisition of other steel service centers and related businesses We intend to actively pursue our growth

strategy in the future

13



We currently have number of expansion projects in process These or future expansion or construction

projects could have adverse effects on our results of operations due to the impact of the start-up costs and the

potential for underutilization in the start-up phase of facility Consolidation in our industry has reduced the

number of potential acquisition targets and we are unable to predict whether or when any prospective acquisition

candidate will become available or the likelihood that any acquisition will be completed Moreover in pursuing

acquisition opportunities we may compete for acquisition targets with other companies with similar growth

strategies which may be larger and have greater financial and other resources than we have Competition among

potential acquirers could result in increased prices for acquisition targets As result we may not be able to identify

appropriate acquisition candidates or consummate acquisitions on satisfactory tenns to us

The pursuit of acquisitions may divert managements time and attention away from day-to-day operations In

order to achieve growth through acquisitions expansion of current facilities greenfield construction or otherwise

additional funding sources may be needed and we may not be able to obtain the additional capital necessary to

pursue our growth strategy on tenns that are satisfactory to us

We may not be able to retain or expand our customer base if the U.S manufacturing industry continues

to erode or if the United States dollar strengthens

Our customer base primarily includes manufacturing and industrial firms in the United States some of which

are or have considered relocating production operations outside the United States or outsourcing particular

functions outside the United States Some customers have closed because they were unable to compete successfully

with foreign competitors Our facilities are located in the United States and therefore to the extent that our

customers relocate or move operations where we do not have presence we could lose their business

Some customers have been able to continue to manufacture items in the United States for export to foreign

markets due to the relative strength of certain foreign currencies against the U.S dollar If the U.S dollar were to

strengthen products made by United States manufacturers could become less attractive to foreign buyers Less

purchases by foreign buyers could reduce our steel sales to those U.S manufacturers

Our business is highly competitive and increased competition could reduce our market share and harm

our financial performance

Our business is highly competitive We compete with steel service centers and to certain degree steel

producers and intermediate steel processors on regular basis primarily on quality price inventory availability

and the ability to meet the delivery schedules and service requirements of our customers We have different

competitors for each of our products and within each region Certain of these competitors have financial and

operating resources in excess of ours Increased competition could lower our margins or reduce our market share

and have material adverse effect on our financial performance

Increases in energy prices would increase our operating costs and we may be unable to pass all these

increases on to our customers in the form of higher prices

If our energy costs increase disproportionately to our revenues our earnings could be reduced We use energy

to process and transport our products Our operating costs increase if
energy costs including electricity diesel fuel

and natural gas rise During periods of higher energy costs we may not be able to recover our operating cost

increases through price increases without reducing demand for our products In addition we generally do not hedge

our exposure to higher prices via energy futures contracts Increases in energy prices will increase our operating

costs and may reduce our profitability if we are unable to pass all of the increases on to our customers
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The market price for our conunon stock may be volatile

Historically there has been volatility in the market price for our common stock Furthermore the market price

of our common stock could fluctuate substantially in the future in response to number of factors including but not

limited to the risk factors described herein Examples include

announcement of our quarterly operating results or the operating results of other steel service centers

changes in financial estimates or recommendations by stock market analysts regarding us our competitors

or the steel industry and

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions dispositions or joint ventures or other

material events impacting the domestic or global steel industry

Recently the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations resulting in our stock

trading below its net book value This volatility has had significant effect on the market prices of securities issued

by many companies for reasons unrelated to their specific operating performance These broad market fluctuations

may materially adversely affect our stock price regardless of our operating results

Our quarterly results may be volatile

Our operating results have varied on quarterly basis during our operating history and are likely to fluctuate

significantly in the future Our operating results may be below the expectations of our investors or stock market

analysts as result of variety of factors many of which are outside of our control Factors that may affect our

quarterly operating results include but are not limited to the risk factors listed above

Many factors could cause our revenues and operating results to vary significantly in the future Accordingly

we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily meaningful Investors

should not rely on the results of one quarter as an indication of our future performance Further it is our practice not

to provide forward-looking sales or earnings guidance and not to endorse any analysts sales or earnings estimates

Nonetheless if our results of operations in any quarter do not meet analysts expectations our stock price could

materially decrease

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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ITEM PROPERTIES

We believe that our properties are strategically situated relative to our domestic suppliers our customers and

each other allowing us to support customers from multiple locations This permits us to provide inventory and

processing services which are available at one operation but not another Steel is shipped from the most

advantageous facility regardless of where the order is taken The facilities are located in the hubs of major steel

consumption markets and within 250-mile radius of most of our customers distance approximating the one-day

driving and delivery limit for truck shipments The following table sets forth certain information concerning our

principal properties

Square Owned or

Operation Location Feet Function Lease

Cleveland Bedford Heights Ohio 127000 Corporate headquarters coil Owned

processing and distribution center

Bedford Heights Ohio1 121500 Coil and plate processing Owned

distribution center and offices

Bedford Heights Ohio 59500 Plate processing distribution center Leased2

and offices

Dover Ohio 62000 Plate processing and distribution Owned

center

Minneapolis Plymouth Minnesota 196800 Coil and plate processing Owned
distribution center and offices

Plymouth Minnesota 112200 Plate processing fabrication Owned

distribution center and offices

Baraga Michigan 9000 Distribution center Leased3

Detroit Detroit Michigan 256000 Coil processing distribution center Owned

and offices

South Winder Georgia 285000 Coil and plate processing Owned

distribution center and offices

Iowa Bettendorf Iowa 244000 Coil and plate processing Owned

fabrication distribution center and

offices

Connecticut Milford Connecticut 134000 Coil processing distribution center Owned

and offices

Philadelphia Lester Pennsylvania 84250 Plate processing distribution center Leased4

and offices

Chambersburg Chambersburg Pennsylvania 87000 Plate processing distribution center Owned

and offices

Chambersburg Pennsylvania 150000 Plate processing fabrication Owned

distribution center and offices

Chicago Schaumburg Illinois 80500 Coil and plate processing Owned

distribution center and offices

North Carolina Siler City North Carolina 74000 Plate processing fabrication Owned

distribution center and offices

South Carolina Sumter South Carolina 24375 Fabrication and distribution center Leased5

The Bedford Heights facilities are all adjacent properties

This facility is leased from related party pursuant to the terms of triple net lease for $195300 per year The

lease expires in June 2010 with one renewal option for an additional 10 years

The lease on this facility expires on September 30 2009 with five one-year renewal options

The lease on this facility expires on December 31 2009 with one-year renewal option

The lease on this facility expires on April 10 2009 with five one-month renewal options

Our international sales office is located in Jacksonville Florida All of the properties listed in the table as

owned are subject to mortgages securing our credit facility Management believes we will be able to accommodate

our capacity needs for the immediate future at our existing facilities

16



ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to various legal actions that we believe are ordinary in nature and incidental to the operation of our

business In the opinion of management the outcome of the proceedings to which we are currently party will not

have material adverse effect upon our results of operations financial condition or cash flows

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

This information is included in this Annual Report pursuant to Instruction of Item 401b of Regulation S-K

The following is list of our executive officers and brief description of their business experience Each executive

officer will hold office until his successor is chosen and qualified

Michael Siegal age 56 has served as our Chief Executive Officer since 1984 and as Chairman of our Board

of Directors since 1994 From 1984 until January 2001 he also served as our President He has been employed by us

in variety of capacities since 1974 Mr Siegal is member of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee of

the Metals Service Center Institute He previously served as National Chairman of Israel Bonds and presently serves

as Chairman of the Development Corporation for Israel He is past officer for the Cleveland Jewish Community

Federation He is also member of the Board of Directors of University Hospitals Rainbow Babies Conmiittee

Cleveland Ohio

David Wolfort age 56 has served as our President since January 2001 and Chief Operating Officer since

1995 He has been director since 1987 He previously served as Vice President Commercial from 1987 to 1995

after having joined us in 1984 as General Manager Prior thereto he spent eight years
with primary steel producer

in variety of sales assignments Mr Wolfort is director of the Metal Service Center Institute and previously

served as Chairman of its Political Action Committee and Governmental Affairs Committee He is also member of

the Northern Ohio Regional Board of the Anti-Defamation League and member of the Board of Trustees of Ohio

University and the Musical Arts Association Cleveland Orchestra

Richard Marabito age 45 serves as our Chief Financial Officer He joined us in 1994 as Corporate

Controller and served in this capacity until being named Chief Financial Officer in March 2000 He also served as

Treasurer from 1994 through 2002 Prior to joining us Mr Marabito served as Corporate Controller for publicly

traded wholesale distribution company and was employed by national accounting firm in its audit department

Mr Marabito is director of the Metal Service Center Institute and is the Chairman of its Foundation for Education

and Research He is also board member and Audit Committee Chairman for Hawk Corporation ASE HWK and

is board member of the Make-A-Wish Foundation of Northeast Ohio

Richard Manson age 40 has served as our Treasurer since January 2003 and has been employed by us

since 1996 From 1996 through 2002 he served as Director of Taxes and Risk Management Prior to joining us

Mr Manson was employed for seven years by national accounting firm in its tax department Mr Manson is

certified public accountant and is member of the Ohio Society of Certified Public Accountants and the American

Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Esther Potash age 57 has served as our Chief Information Officer since April2007 and has been employed

by us in various positions since 1998 Prior to joining us Ms Potash spent 13 years as management consultant with

public accounting firm and six years as an analyst with the United States Navy Ms Potash is member of the

Association of Women in the Metal Industries
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MAT
TERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol ZEUS The following table

sets forth for each quarter in the two-year period ended December 31 2008 the high and low sales prices of our

common stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Select Market

2008 2007

High Low High Low

First quarter $45.88 $26.82 $31.72 $21.03

Second quarter 78.32 44.26 34.99 28.54

Third quarter 74.46 27.15 31.59 21.79

Fourth quarter 29.98 12.00 33.20 23.00

Holders of Record

On February 2009 we estimate there were approximately 70 holders of record and 2300 beneficial holders

of our common stock

Dividends

During 2008 our Board of Directors approved regular quarterly dividends of $.04 per share that were paid on

March 172008 and June 16 2008 and regular quarterly dividends of $.05 per
share that were paid on September 15

2008 and December 15 2008 Our Board also approved special dividend of $1.00 per
share that was paid on

September 15 2008

During 2007 our Board of Directors approved regular quarterly dividends of $.03 per share that were paid on

March 15 2007 and June 15 2007 and regular quarterly dividends of $.04 per share that were paid on September 17

2007 and December 17 2007

We expect to make regular quarterly dividend distributions in the future subject to the continuing determi

nation by our Board of Directors that the dividend remains in the best interest of our shareholders The agreement

governing our credit facility restricts the amount of dividends that we can pay Any determinations by the Board of

Directors to pay cash dividends in the future will take into account various factors including our financial condition

results of operations current and anticipated cash needs plans for expansion and current restrictions under our

credit agreement We cannot assure you that dividends will be paid in the future or that if paid the dividends will be

at the same amount or frequency

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the quarter ended December 31 2008

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not have any unregistered sales of equity securities during the quarter ended December 31 2008
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected data of the Company for each of the five years in the period ended

December 31 2008 The data presented should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and notes

thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report

For the Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

In thousands except per share data

Tons Sold Data

Direct 1041 1098 1064 1091 1171

Toll 125 150 202 189 184

Total 1165 1248 1266 1280 1355

Income Statement Data

Net sales $1227245 $1028963 $981004 $939210 $894157

Gross profit 296639 201675 200699 166471 242370

Operating expenses 187393 158351 146479 122450 139563

Operating income 109246 43324 54220 44021 102807

Income loss from joint ventures 2137 4125 741

Interest and other financing costs 1148 2819 2677 3703 4655

Income before income taxes 108098 40505 49406 36193 98893

Net income 67702 25270 31048 22092 60078

Earnings Per Share Data

Basic 6.24 2.38 2.99 2.18 6.12

Diluted 6.21 2.35 2.92 2.11 5.88

Weighted average shares basic 10847 10628 10383 10134 9816

Weighted average
shares diluted 10895 10763 10633 10457 10222

Dividends declared 1.18 0.14 0.12

Balance Sheet Data end of period

Current assets 348480 283388 $308215 $227655 $287307

Current liabilities 95280 92290 92340 94603 95688

Working capital 253200 191098 215875 133052 191619

Total assets 474247 386083 405320 305606 374146

Total debt 40198 16707 68328 96022

Shareholders equity 322958 263520 234237 200321 176525

Net sales generated from toll tons sold represented less than 3% of consolidated net sales for all years presented

Gross profit is calculated as net sales less the cost of materials sold

Operating expenses are calculated as total costs and expenses less the cost of materials sold

Includes $2000 and $3500 loss on disposition of OLP joint venture in 2006 and 2005 respectively

Calculated by dividing net income by weighted average shares outstanding

2008 dividends declared include $1.00 per share special dividend
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties Our actual results may differ materially

from the results discussed in theforward-looking statements Factors that might cause difference include but are

not limited to those discussed under Item 1A Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The following

section is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information including our financial statements and the notes

thereto which appears elsewhere in this Annual Report

Overview

We are leading U.S steel service center with over 54 years of experience Our primary focus is on the direct

sale and distribution of large volumes of processed carbon coated and stainless flat-rolled sheet coil and plate

products We operate as an intermediary between steel producers and manufacturers that require processed steel for

their operations We serve customers in most carbon steel consuming industries including manufacturers and

fabricators of transportation and material handling equipment construction and farm machinery storage tanks

environmental and energy generation automobiles food service and electrical equipment military vehicles and

equipment as well as general and plate fabricators and steel service centers We distribute our products primarily

through direct sales force

We operate as single business segment with 17 strategically-located processing and distribution facilities in

Connecticut Georgia Illinois Iowa Michigan Minnesota North Carolina Ohio Pennsylvania and South

Carolina This geographic footprint allows us to focus on regional customers and larger national and multi

national accounts primarily located throughout the midwestern eastern and southern United States

We sell broad
range

of steel products many of which have different
gross profits and margins Products that

have more value-added processing generally have greater gross profit and higher margins Accordingly our

overall
gross profit is affected by among other things product mix the amount of processing performed the

availability of steel volatility in selling prices and material purchase costs We also perform toll processing of

customer-owned steel the majority of which is performed by our Michigan and Georgia operations We sell certain

products internationally primarily in Puerto Rico and Mexico All international sales and payments are made in

U.S dollars Recent international sales have been immaterial to our consolidated financial results

Our results of operations are affected by numerous external factors including but not limited to general and

global business economic financial or banking and political conditions competition steel pricing and availability

energy prices pricing and availability of raw materials used in the production of steel inventory held in the supply

chain customer demand for steel and customers ability to manage their credit line availability and layoffs or work

stoppages by our own our suppliers or our customers personnel The steel industry also continues to be affected by

the global consolidation of our suppliers competitors and end-use customers

Like many other steel service centers we maintain substantial inventories of steel to accommodate the short

lead times and just-in-time delivery requirements of our customers Accordingly we purchase steel in effort to

maintain our inventory at levels that we believe to be appropriate to satisfy the anticipated needs of our customers

based upon historic buying practices contracts with customers and market conditions Our commitments to

purchase steel are generally at prevailing market prices in effect at the time we place our orders We have no long-

term fixed-price steel purchase contracts When steel prices increase competitive conditions will influence how

much of the price increase we can pass on to our customers To the extent we are unable to pass on future price

increases in our raw materials to our customers the net sales and profitability of our business could be adversely

affected When steel prices decline as they did in the fourth quarter of 2008 and continue in 2009 customer

demands for lower prices and our competitors responses to those demands could result in lower sale prices and

consequently lower margins as we use existing steel inventory

At December 31 2008 we employed approximately 1140 people of which approximately 175 of the hourly

plant personnel at our Minneapolis and Detroit facilities are represented by four separate collective bargaining

units collective bargaining agreement covering approximately five Detroit maintenance workers was extended to
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July 31 2009 Collective bargaining agreements covering Minneapolis and other Detroit employees expire in 2009

and subsequent years including contract covering Minneapolis plate facility employees which expires at the end

of March 2009 We have never experienced work stoppage and we believe that our relationship with employees is

good However any prolonged work stoppages by our personnel represented by collective bargaining units could

have material adverse impact on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Critical Accounting Policies

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated

financial statements which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States The preparation of these financial statements requires management to use estimates and assumptions

that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements Actual results could differ from these estimates under

different assumptions or conditions On an on-going basis we monitor and evaluate our estimates and assumptions

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used

in preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our

customers to make required payments The allowance is maintained at level considered appropriate based on

historical experience and specific customer collection issues that we have identified Estimations are based upon the

application of an historical collection rate to the outstanding accounts receivable balance which remains fairly level

from year to year and judgments about the probable effects of economic conditions on certain customers which can

fluctuate significantly from year to year We cannot be certain that the rate of future credit losses will be similar to

past experience We consider all available information when assessing the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful

accounts each quarter

Inventory Valuation

Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and include the costs of the purchased steel internal

and external processing and inbound freight Cost is determined using the specific identification method We

regularly review our inventory on hand and record provisions for obsolete and slow-moving inventory based on

historical and current sales trends Changes in product demand and our customer base may affect the value of

inventory on hand which may require higher provisions for obsolete or slow-moving inventory

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets and the related estimated remaining lives whenever events

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Events or changes in

circumstances that could trigger an impairment review include significant underperformance relative to the

historical or projected future operating results significant changes in the manner or the use of the assets or the

strategy for the overall business or significant negative industry or economic trends We record an impairment or

change in useful life whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable or the useful life has changed

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes on the consolidated balance sheet include as an offset to the estimated temporary

differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts on the consolidated balance

sheets the tax effect of operating loss and tax credit carryforwards If we determine that we will not be able to fully

realize deferred tax asset we will record valuation allowance to reduce such deferred tax asset to its net

realizable value
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized in accordance with the SECs Staff Accounting Bulletin No 104 Revenue Recognition

For both direct and toll shipments revenue is recognized when steel is shipped to the customer and title and risk of

loss is transferred which generally occurs upon delivery to our customers Given the proximity of our customers to

our facilities substantially all of our sales are shipped and received within one day Sales returns and allowances are

treated as reductions to sales and are provided for based on historical experience and current estimates and are

immaterial to the consolidated financial statements

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain income statement data for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 dollars shown in thousands

2008 2007 2006

of net of net of net

sales sales sales

Net sales $1227245 100.0 $1028963 100.0 $981004 100.0

Gross profit 296639 24.2 201675 19.6 200699 20.5

Operating expenses 187393 15.3 158351 15.4 146479 14.9

Operating income 109246 8.9 43324 4.2 54220 5.5

Gross profit is calculated as net sales less the cost of materials sold

Operating expenses are calculated as total costs and
expenses

less the cost of materials sold

2008 Compared to 2007

Tons sold in 2008 decreased 6.6% to 1.17 million tons from 1.25 million tons last year Tons sold in 2008

included 1.04 million tons from direct sales and 125 thousand tons from toll processing compared with 1.10 million

direct tons and 150 thousand toll tons in 2007 Recessionary pressures
and unprecedented crises in global financial

markets during the second half of 2008 led to decrease in tons sold We expect these conditions to continue or

worsen in 2009 resulting in lower tons sold

Net sales in 2008 increased 19.3% to $1.23 billion from $1.03 billion The increase in sales was primarily

attributable to higher average selling prices Average selling prices for 2008 increased 27.7% from 2007 Average

selling prices began to decrease during the fourth quarter of 2008 due to reduced customer demand and the sharp

reduction in the price of steel offered by steel producers We expect average selling prices to decrease in 2009 from

levels experienced during the fourth quarter of 2008 due to recessionary pressures and reduced customer demand

In 2008 gross profit as percentage of net sales increased to 24.2% from 19.6% in 2007 Higher selling prices

were primarily the result of higher steel prices from steel producers that were passed through to our customers

During the first three quarters of 2008 carbon steel prices approximately doubled resulting in higher cost of

materials sold For most of 2008 the increase in average selling prices exceeded the increase in average cost of

materials sold resulting in higher gross profit as we sold inventory which was acquired earlier in the year at lower

prices The price of steel purchased from steel producers began to decrease in the late third quarter of 2008 In the

fourth quarter of 2008 our average selling prices decreased while our average cost of materials sold increased as we

sold inventory which was acquired during the third quarter of 2008 at higher prices As result our average gross

profit began to fall during the fourth quarter of 2008 and we expect that situation to continue or worsen in 2009

As percentage of net sales operating expenses for 2008 decreased to 15.3% from 15.4% in 2007 Operating

expenses for 2008 increased 18.3% to $187.4 million from $158.4 million in 2007 Higher operating expenses in

2008 were primaiily attributable to increased levels of variable incentive compensation associated with higher

levels of profitability the majority of which was recorded in the general and administrative operating expense

caption with portion also recorded in the warehouse and processing caption increased sales commissions and

bad debt expense recorded in the selling expense caption increased distribution expense resulting from higher fuel

costs recorded in the distribution expense caption and increased warehouse and processing expense associated
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with higher levels of value-added services provided to our customers Most of the higher operating expenses

recorded in 2008 are variable and are tied to higher levels of profitability As profitability declined in the Fourth

Quarter of 2008 and is expected to decline in 2009 many of these
expenses

have decreased accordingly

Additionally starting in the second half of 2008 we have eliminated our temporary labor restricted overtime

and introduced reduced work weeks resulting in the reduction of approximately 213 full-time equivalent

employees or 15% of our workforce

Interest and other expense on debt decreased to $1.1 million from $2.8 million in 2007 The decrease in interest

expense in 2008 was primarily attributable to lower
average borrowings and borrowing rates and the capitalization

of interest into certain long-term capital projects Our effective borrowing rate exclusive of deferred financing fees

was 3.8% in 2008 compared to 6.8% in 2007

In 2008 we reported income before income taxes of $108.1 million compared to $40.5 million in 2007 An
income tax provision of 37.4% was recorded during 2008 compared to 37.6% in 2007 Taxes paid in 2008 totaled

$44.7 million compared to $11.7 million in 2007

Net income for 2008 totaled $67.7 million or $6.21 per diluted share compared to $25.3 million or $2.35 per

diluted share in 2007

2007 Compared to 2006

Tons sold in 2007 decreased 1.4% to 1.25 million tons from 1.27 million tons in 2006 Tons sold in 2007

included 1.10 million tons from direct sales and 150 thousand tons from toll processing compared with 1.07 million

direct tons and 202 thousand toll tons in 2006

Net sales in 2007 increased 4.9% to $1.03 billion from $981.0 million Average selling prices for 2007

increased 6.4% from 2006

In 2007 gross profit as percentage of net sales decreased to 19.6% from 20.5% in 2006 Higher inventory

levels at steel service centers at the beginning of 2007 led to competitive pressures and gross margins throughout

most of the year

As percentage of net sales operating expenses for 2007 increased to 15.4% from 14.9% in 2006 Operating

expenses for 2007 increased 8.1% to $158.4 million from $146.5 million in 2006 The increase in operating

expenses was primarily attributable to the inclusion of full year of our North Carolina facilitys operating expenses

in 2007 acquired in June 2006 and full year of costs associated with the development of our new information

system which began during the third quarter of 2006 and is primarily recorded in the general and administrative

expense caption

Financing costs for 2007 increased to $2.8 million from $2.7 million in 2007 Our effective borrowing rate

inclusive of deferred financing fees was 7.4% in 2007 compared to 7.5% in 2006

In 2007 we reported income before income taxes of $40.5 million compared to $49.4 million in 2006 An
income tax provision of 37.6% was recorded during 2007 compared to 37.2% in 2006 Taxes paid in 2007 totaled

$11.7 million compared to $19.3 million in 2006

Net income for 2007 totaled $25.3 million or $2.35 per diluted share compared to $31.0 million or $2.92 per
diluted share in 2006

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal capital requirements include funding working capital needs purchasing and upgrading of

processing equipment and facilities making acquisitions and paying dividends We use cash generated from

operations leasing transactions and borrowings under our credit facility to fund these requirements

We believe that funds available under our credit facility and lease arrangements together with funds generated

from operations will be sufficient to provide us with the liquidity necessary to fund anticipated working capital

requirements and capital expenditure requirements over at least the next 12 months In the future we may as part of

our business strategy acquire and dispose of other assets in the same or complementary lines of business or enter
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into or exit strategic alliances and joint ventures Accordingly the timing and size of our capital requirements are

subject to change as business conditions warrant and opportunities arise

2008 Compared to 2007

Working capital at December 31 2008 increased $62.1 million from the end of the prior year The increase was

primarily attributable to $76.8 million increase in inventories and an $8.5 million decrease in accounts payable

partially offset by $10.7 million decrease in accounts receivable The fluctuation in inventories is primarily

attributable to higher levels of inventory held at year
end due to weaker than expected fourth quarter 2008 sales at

higher overall prices

During 2008 we generated $6.2 million of net cash from operations of which $81.6 million was derived from

cash earnings and $75.4 million was used for working capital

In 2008 we spent $33.8 million on capital expenditures In 2009 depending on global banking and economic

conditions we anticipate capital expenditures of $20 to $30 million primarily to complete projects which we began

in 2008 which will further our value-added strategies in both existing and new facilities equipment and technology

In October 2008 we began construction of new facility in Sumter South Carolina The facility is expected to be

completed in 2009 and involves the construction and equipping of 110000 square foot building at total

investment of approximately $12 million In September 2008 we began the process of expanding our Chambers-

burg Pennsylvania facility by 80000 square feet at total cost of approximately $7 million The expansion is

expected to be operational during the second quarter of 2009 new stretcher-leveler cut-to-length line for our

Minneapolis coil facility became operational during the third quarter of 2008 In July2008 we purchased land and

building to house new satellite facility in Dover Ohio at total investment of approximately $5 million which

began to operate during the fourth quarter of 2008

We are also continuing the process of implementing new single business system to replace the existing

systems we currently use During 2008 we have expensed $2.7 million and capitalized $5.2 million associated with

the implementation of the new information system Since the project began in 2006 we have expensed $6.2 million

and capitalized $9.2 million associated with the implementation of the new information system

In 2008 we generated $19.9 million from financing activities which primarily consisted of $23.5 million of

borrowings under our revolving credit facility

During 2008 our Board of Directors approved regular quarterly dividends of $.04 per share that were paid on

March 172008 and June 162008 and regular quarterly dividends of $.05 per share that were paid on September 15

2008 and December 15 2008 Additionally the Board approved special dividend of $1.00 per share that was paid

on September 15 2008 In February 2009 our Board of Directors approved quarterly dividend of $.05 per share

which is payable on March 16 2009 to shareholders of record as of March 2009 We expect to make regular

dividend distributions in the future subject to the availability of cash and continuing determination by our Board of

Directors that the payment of dividends remains in the best interest of our shareholders

Our secured bank financing agreement is revolving credit facility collateralized by our accounts receivable

inventories and substantially all of our property and equipment Borrowings are limited to the lesser of borrowing

base comprised of eligible accounts receivable and inventories or $130 million in the aggregate May 2008

amendment extended the maturity date of the revolving credit facility to December 15 2011 with annual

extensions at the banks option

The credit facility requires us to comply with various covenants the most significant of which include

minimum availability of $10 million tested monthly ii minimum fixed charge coverage
ratio of 1.25 and

maximum leverage ratio of 1.75 which are tested quarterly iii restrictions on additional indebtedness and

iv limitations on capital expenditures and investments The credit facility also contains an accordion feature that

allows us to add up to $25 million of additional revolver capacity At December 31 2008 we had approximately

$88 million of availability and were in compliance with our covenants under the credit facility Further declines in

steel prices or further reductions in sales volumes in 2009 could adversely impact our ability to remain in

compliance with certain financial covenants in our revolving credit facility
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2007 Compared to 2006

Working capital at December 31 2007 decreased $24.8 million from the end of the prior year The decrease

was primarily attributable to $32.2 million decrease in inventories partially offset by $2.5 million increase in

accounts receivable $2.4 million increase in prepaids and others and $2.5 million increase in cash

During 2007 we generated $64.7 million of net cash from operations of which $34.5 million was derived from

cash earnings and $30.2 million was generated from working capital

In 2007 we spent $12.5 million on capital expenditures We completed $3.9 million project to equip and

expand our Iowa facility by approximately 54000 square feet in order to meet our customers needs for high quality

sheet product We installed additional laser and plasma cutting equipment and machining centers in Cleveland

Chicago Chambersburg and Suer City to support our growing value-added services Due to the risk of techno

logical obsolescence it has been our policy to lease new laser cutting equipment In 2007 we ordered $5.5 million

stretcher-leveler cut-to-length line for our Minneapolis Coil Facility which became operational in the second

quarter of 2008 We continued the process of implementing new business information system to replace the

existing systems we currently use

During 2007 our Board of Directors approved regular quarterly dividends of $.03 per share that were paid on

March 15 2007 and June 12 2007 The Board of Directors then increased the regular quarterly dividend to $.04 per

share which were paid on September 17 2007 and December 17 2007

In December 2006 we advanced $3.16 million to OLP to cover loan guarantee obligation We believe the

underlying value of OLPs remaining assets upon liquidation will be sufficient to repay the advance at later date

Contractual Obligations

The following table reflects our contractual obligations as of December 31 2008

Contractual Obligations Less than More than

amounts in thousands Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years

Long-term debt obligations $40198 $40198

Unrecognized tax positions 4872 $2357 2515

Other long-term liabilities 11879 9387 202 2290

Operating leases 13157 4308 5994 2291 564

Total contractual obligations $70106 $6665 $58094 $2493 $2854

See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements Classification is based on expected settlement dates and

the expiration of certain statutes of limitations

Primarily consists of accrued bonuses retirement liabilities and deferred compensation payable in future
years

See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

An off-balance sheet arrangement is any contractual arrangement involving an unconsolidated entity under

which company has made guarantees retained or contingent interest in transferred assets any

obligation under certain derivative instruments or any obligation under material variable interest in an

unconsolidated entity that provides financing liquidity market risk or credit risk support to company or engages

in leasing hedging or research and development services within company

As of December 31 2008 we had no material off-balance sheet arrangements
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Effects of Inflation

Inflation generally affects us by increasing the cost of employee wages and benefits transportation services

processing equipment purchased steel energy and borrowings under our credit facility General inflation

excluding increases in the price of steel and increased distribution expense has not had material effect on

our financial results during the past three years

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Interpretation No 48 FIN 48
Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 This interpretation

clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entitys financial statements in accordance

with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 109 Accounting for income Taxes FIN 48 prescribes

recognition threshold and measurement principles for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or

expected to be taken on tax return We adopted FIN 48 on January 2007 The adoption had no effect on the

opening balance of retained earnings as of January 2007

In September 2006 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 SFAS No 157

Fair Value Measurements This statement defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in

generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements This statement

was initially effective as of January 2008 but in February 2008 the FASB delayed the effective date for applying

the standard to non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the

financial statements on non-recurring basis We adopted SFAS No 157 as of January 2008 for assets and

liabilities within its scope and the impact was immaterial to our financial statements Non-financial assets and non

financial liabilities for which we have not applied the provisions of SFAS No 157 included those measured at fair

value in goodwill impairment testing

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160 SFAS No 160

Noncontrolling interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an Amendment of Accounting Research Bulle

tin No 51 SFAS No 160 requires all entities to report noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries also known as

minority interests as separate component of equity in the consolidated statement of financial position to clearly

identify consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest on the face of the

consolidated statement of income and to provide sufficient disclosure that clearly identifies and distinguishes

between the interest of the parent and the interests of controlling owners SPAS No 160 is effective as of January

2009 We are currently evaluating SFAS No 160 however we do not expect any material financial statement

implications relating to the adoption of this statement because we do not currently have any non-controlling

interests in its subsidiaries

In December2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141RSFAS No l4lR

Business Combinations This statement requires the acquiring entity in business combination to recognize all

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the

measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed and requires the acquirer to disclose certain

information related to the nature and financial effect of the business combination SFAS No 141R is effective for

business combinations entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2008 Depending on the

terms conditions and details of the business combinations if any that take place subsequent to January 2009

SFAS No 141R may have material impact on the Companys future financial statements

ITEM 7A QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

During the past several years the base price of carbon flat-rolled steel has fluctuated significantly We have

witnessed unprecedented steel producer price volatility including doubling of prices during the first nine months

of 2008 and rapid and steep price decreases during the fourth quarter of 2008 Declining or flattening prices as we

have experienced in the fourth quarter of 2008 and expect to experience during the first quarter of 2009 could

reduce our gross profit margin percentages to levels that are lower than our historical levels or our 2008 levels

Higher inventory held by us other steel service centers or end-use customers could cause competitive pressures
that

could also reduce our gross profit Higher raw material prices for steel producers or steel production constraints
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could cause the price of steel to increase Rising prices result in higher working capital requirements for us and our

customers Some customers may not have sufficient credit lines or liquidity to absorb significant increases in the

price of steel While we have generally been successful in the past in passing on producers price increases and

surcharges to our customers there is no guarantee that we will be able to pass on price increases to our customers in

the future

Approximately 8.5% of our net sales in 2008 were directly to automotive manufacturers or manufacturers of

automotive components and parts The automotive industry experiences significant fluctuations in demand based on

numerous factors such as general economic conditions and consumer confidence The automotive industry is also

subject from time-to-time to labor work stoppages The domestic automotive industry which has experienced

number of bankruptcies is currently involved in significant restructuring and labor contract negotiations which has

resulted in lower production volumes Certain customers in this industry represent an increasing credit risk

Inflation generally affects us by increasing the cost of employee wages and benefits transportation services

processing equipment purchased steel energy and borrowings under our credit facility General inflation

excluding increases in the price of steel and increased distribution expense has not had material effect on

our financial results during the past three years

When raw material prices increase competitive conditions will influence how much of the steel price increase

can be passed on to our customers When raw material prices decline customer demands for lower cost product

result in lower selling prices Declining steel prices as we have experienced during the fourth quarter of 2008 and

expect to experience during the first quarter of 2009 have generally adversely affected our net sales and net income

while increasing steel prices have favorably affected our net sales and net income

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and fluctuating steel prices We have not entered into any

interest rate or steel commodity hedge transactions for speculative purposes or otherwise

Our primary interest rate risk exposure results from variable rate debt If interest rates in the future were to

increase 100 basis points 1.0% from December 31 2008 rates and assuming no change in total debt from

December 31 2008 levels the additional annual interest expense to us would be approximately $402 thousand We

currently do not hedge our exposure to variable interest rate risk However we have the option to enter into 30- to

180-day fixed base rate Euro loans under our credit facility
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors

of Olympic Steel Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of Olympic Steel Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31 2008 and 2007
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31

2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in

our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly in all material

respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial

statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The

Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control

over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements on the financial

statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also

included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys
assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Cleveland Ohio

March 2009
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting Our internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Because of its inherent limitations internal control

over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 In making this assessment our management used the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based

on our assessment we concluded that as of December 31 2008 our internal control over financial reporting was

effective based on those criteria

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which

appears herein
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Olympic Steel Inc

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For The Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

in thousands except per share data

2008 2007 2006

Net sales $1227245 $1028963 $981004

Costs and expenses

Cost of materials sold exclusive of items shown separately

below 930606 827288 780305

Warehouse and processing 64382 59449 55407
Administrative and general 58592 41472 38143

Distribution 28086 26342 25384

Selling 19602 15993 13485

Occupancy 6998 6145 5704

Depreciation 9733 8950 8356

Total costs and
expenses 1117999 985639 926784

Operating income 109246 43324 54220
Loss from joint ventures 137
Loss on disposition of joint venture 2000

Income before financing costs and income taxes 109246 43324 52083

Interest and other expense on debt 1148 2819 2677

Income before income taxes 108098 40505 49406

Income tax provision 40396 15235 18358

Net income 67702 25270 31048

Net income
per share basic 6.24 2.38 2.99

Weighted average shares outstanding basic 10847 10628 10383

Net income per share diluted 6.21 2.35 2.92

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted 10895 10763 10633

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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Olympic Steel Inc

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31 2008 and 2007

in thousands

Assets

2008 2007

Shareholders Equity

Preferred stock without par value 5000 shares authorized no shares issued or

outstanding

Common stock without par value 20000 shares authorized 10962 and 10728 shares

issued and outstanding

Retained earnings

Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Property and equipment at cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net property and equipment

Goodwill

Other long-term assets

Total assets

Accounts payable

Accrued payroll

Other accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities

Credit facility revolver

Other long-term liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Total liabilities

Liabilities

891

77737

255300

14552

348480

211325

97820

113505

6583

5679

$474247

64883

16403

13994

95280

40198

14394

1417

151289

119134

203824

322958

$474247

7707

88414

178530

8737

283388

183850

94199

89651

6583

6461

$386083

73408

9393

9489

92290

16707

9779

3787

122563

114582

148938

263520

$386083

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these balance sheets
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Olympic Steel Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For The Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

in thousands

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 67702 25270 31048

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating

activities net of effects from 2006 purchases of GSP and PSW
Depreciation and amortization 9733 8950 8356
Loss from joint ventures net of distributions and consolidation of

GSP 137

Loss on disposition of joint venture 2000

Gain loss on disposition of property and equipment 464 446 108

Stock based compensation 1648 840 127

Other long-term assets 782 3298 3172
Other long-term liabilities 4615 3115 3702

Long-term deferred income taxes 2370 36 3800

81646 34467 38506

Changes in working capital

Accounts receivable 10677 2531 725
Inventories 76770 32208 70994
Prepaid expenses and other 5815 2354 2557
Accounts payable 14834 1254 12631
Accrued payroll and other accrued liabilities 11335 1637 2402

75407 30214 89309

Net cash from used for operating activities 6239 64681 50803

Cash flows from used for investing activities

Purchase of GSP Interest 100
Purchase of PSW 8965
Capital expenditures 33759 12498 12303
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment 816 1702

Net cash used for investing activities 32943 10796 21359

Cash flows from used for financing activities

Credit facility revolver borrowings payments net 23491 51621 65481

Change in outstanding checks 6309 2941 1860
Debt repayments 2264
Proceeds from exercise of stock options including tax benefit and

employee stock purchases 2904 4667 3992
Dividends paid 12816 1494 1251

Net cash from used for financing activities 19888 51389 67818

Cash and cash equivalents

Net increase decrease 6816 2496 4344
Beginning balance 7707 5211 9555

Ending balance 891 7707 5211

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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Olympic Steel Inc

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity

For The Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

In thousands

Common Retained

Stock Earnings

Balance at December 31 2005 104956 95365

Net income 31048

Payment of dividends 1251

Exercise of stock options and employee stock purchases 276 shares 3992

Stock based compensation 127

Balance at December 31 2006 109075 125162

Net income 25270

Payment of dividends 1494
Exercise of stock options and employee stock purchases 298 shares 4667

Stock based compensation 840

Balance at December 31 2007 $114582 $148938

Net income 67702

Payment of dividends 12816

Exercise of stock options and employee stock purchases 134 shares 2904

Stock based compensation 1648

Balance at December 312008 $119134 $203824

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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Olympic Steel Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For The Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Olympic Steel Inc and its

wholly-owned subsidiaries collectively the Company or Olympic after elimination of intercompany accounts

and transactions Investments in the Companys joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method

Nature of Business

The Company is U.S steel service center with over 54 years of experience in specialized processing and

distribution of large volumes of carbon coated carbon and stainless steel flat-rolled sheet and coil and plate

products from 17 facilities in ten midwestern eastern and southern states The Company operates as one business

segment

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those

estimates

Concentration Risks

The Company is major customer of flat-rolled coil and plate steel for many of its principal suppliers but is not

dependent on any one supplier The Company purchased approximately 46% 45% and 46% of its total steel

requirements from its three largest suppliers in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

The Company has diversified customer and geographic base which reduces the inherent risk and cyclicality

of its business The concentration of net sales to the Companys top 20 customers approximated 33% 34% and 39%

of net sales in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively In addition the Companys largest customer accounted for

approximately 6% 8% and 9% of net sales in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Sales to the three largest

U.S automobile manufacturers and their suppliers made principally by the Companys Detroit operation and sales

to other steel service centers accounted for approximately 8.5% and 10% respectively of the Companys net sales

in 2008 8.5% and 9% of net sales in 2007 and 9% and 8% of net sales in 2006

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of short-term highly liquid investments with three month or less maturity which are

readily convertible into cash

Fair Market Value

Fair value is defined under SFAS No 157 as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to

transfer liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the liability in an orderly transaction between

market participants on the measurement date Valuation techniques under SFAS No 157 must maximize the use of

observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs To measure fair value the Company applies

SFAS No 157s fair value hierarchy that is based on three levels of inputs of which the first two are considered

observable and the last unobservable as follows

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
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Level Inputs other than Level that are observable either directly or indirectly such as quoted prices for

similar assets or liabilities quoted prices that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be

corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities

Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the

fair value of the assets or liabilities

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are presented net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $1103 $1427 as of Decem

ber 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Bad debt expense totaled $1378 in 2008 $493 in 2007 and $1044 in 2006

The Companys allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained at level considered appropriate based on

historical experience and specific customer collection issues that the Company has identified Estimations are based

upon calculated percentage of accounts receivable which remains fairly level from year to year and judgments

about the probable effects of economic conditions on certain customers which can fluctuate significantly from
year

to year The Company cannot guarantee that the rate of future credit losses will be similar to past experience

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and include the costs of purchased steel inbound freight

external processing and applicable labor and overhead costs related to internal processing Cost is determined using

the specific identification method On the Consolidated Statement of Operations Cost of materials sold exclusive

of items shown separately below consists of the cost of purchased steel inbound and internal transfer freight

external processing costs and scrap

Property and Equipment and Depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from to 30 years In accordance with Statement of Position 98-1

Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use the Company capitalizes

the costs of obtaining or developing internal-use software including directly related payroll costs The Company

amortizes those costs over five years beginning when the software is ready for its intended use

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of an acquired business In

accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

goodwill is not amortized but is tested annually or more frequently for impairment

The goodwill on the consolidate balance sheets is related to the June 2006 acquisition of our North Carolina

operations

For purposes of impairment testing which is conducted December 31 of each year the Company determined

fair value using discounted cash flow methodology As of December 31 2008 goodwill totaled $6.6 million and

the testing indicated no impairment of goodwill

income Taxes

The Company on its consolidated balance sheets records as an offset to the estimated effect of temporary

differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts in its consolidated balance

sheets the tax effect of operating loss and tax credit carryforwards If the Company determines that it will not be

able to fully realize deferred tax asset it will record valuation allowance to reduce such deferred tax asset to its

realizable value We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense

Penalties if incurred would be recognized as component of income tax expense
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized in accordance with the SECs Staff Accounting Bulletin No 104 Revenue Recognition

For both direct and toll shipments revenue is recognized when steel is shipped to the customer and title and risk of

loss is transferred which generally occurs upon delivery to our customers Given the proximity of our customers to

our facilities substantially all of the Companys sales are shipped and received within one day Sales returns and

allowances are treated as reductions to sales and are provided for based on historical experience and current

estimates and are immaterial to the consolidated financial statements

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

Amounts charged to customers for shipping and other transportation are included in net sales The distribution

expense line on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations reflects all shipping and other trans

portation costs incurred by the Company in shipping goods to its customers

Impairment

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets and the related estimated remaining lives

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Events or

changes in circumstances that could trigger an impairment review include significant underperformance relative to

the expected historical or projected future operating results significant changes in the manner of the use of the

acquired assets or the strategy for the overall business or significant negative industry or economic trends The

Company records an impairment or change in useful life whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount may not be recoverable or the useful life has changed in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No 144 SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-

Lived Assets

Stock-Based Compensation

In 2006 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123-R SFAS No 123-R
Share-Based Payment which requires the recording of compensation expense for stock options issued to employees

and directors Prior to 2006 the Company accounted for stock options granted to employees and directors under the

intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25 where no compensation expense was

recognized The Company has elected to use the modified prospective transition method where compensation

expense is recorded prospectively For additional information see Note 10 Stock Options

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Interpretation No 48 FIN 48
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 This interpretation

clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entitys financial statements in accordance

with Statement of Financial Account Standards No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes FIN 48 prescribes

recognition threshold and measurement principles for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or

expected to be taken on tax return The Company adopted FIN 48 on January 2007 The adoption had no effect

on the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 2007

In September 2006 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 SFAS No 157
Fair Value Measurements This statement defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in

generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements This statement

was initially effective as of January 2008 but in February 2008 the FASB delayed the effective date for applying

the standard to non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the

financial statements on non-recurring basis The Company adopted SFAS No 157 as of January 2008 for assets

and liabilities within its
scope

and the impact was immaterial to our financial statements Non-financial assets and

non-financial liabilities for which we have not applied the provisions of SFAS No 157 included those measured at

fair value in goodwill impairment testing
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In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160 SFAS No 160

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an Amendment of Accounting Research Bulle

tin No 51 SFAS No 160 requires all entities to report noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries also known as

minority interests as separate component of equity in the consolidated statement of financial position to clearly

identify consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest on the face of the

consolidated statement of income and to provide sufficient disclosure that clearly identifies and distinguishes

between the interest of the parent and the interests of controlling owners SFAS No 160 is effective as of January

2009 The Company is currently evaluating SFAS No 160 however it does not expect any material financial

statement implications relating to the adoption of this statement because the Company does not currently have any

non-controlling interests in its subsidiaries

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141R SFAS No 141R

Business Combinations This statement requires the acquiring entity in business combination to recognize all

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the

measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed and requires the acquirer to disclose certain

information related to the nature and financial effect of the business combination SFAS No 141R is effective for

business combinations entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2008 Depending on the

terms conditions and details of the business combinations if any that take place subsequent to January 2009

SFAS No 141R may have material impact on the Companys future financial statements

Acquisition of Tinsley Group PSW Inc

In order to further expand value-added and fabrication capabilities on June 2006 the Company purchased

all of the outstanding stock of Tinsley Group PSW Inc PSW for final purchase price of $9.0 million

which included $6.6 million of goodwill The results of PSW have been fully consolidated in the Companys

financial results since June 2006

PSW is full service fabricating company that utilizes burning forming machining welding and painting to

produce wide variety of fabrications for large original equipment manufacturers of heavy construction equipment

PSW was founded in 1990 and currently operates in two facilities in North Carolina and South Carolina

Investments in Joint Ventures

The Company and the United States Steel Corporation USS each own 50% of Olympic Laser Processing

OLP company that produced laser welded sheet steel blanks for the automotive industry OLP ceased operations

during the first quarter of 2006 In December 2006 the Company advanced $3200 to OLP to cover loan

guarantee As of December 31 2008 the investment in and advance to OLP was valued at $2500 on the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheet The Company believes the underlying value of OLPs remaining real estate upon

liquidation will be sufficient to repay the $2500 advance at later date

The Company recorded 50% of OLPs net income or loss to its Consolidated Statement of Operations as

Income Loss from Joint Ventures

Prior to May 2006 the Company held 49% ownership interest in G.S.P LLC GSP venture to support

the flat-rolled steel requirements of the automotive industry as Minority Business Enterprise In order to gain full

control of GSP on May 2006 the Company purchased the remaining 51% ownership interest for $100 and GSP

ceased qualification as Minority Business Enterprise

From May 2006 to December 31 2007 GSPs results have been fully consolidated in the Companys

financial statements Prior to May 2006 the Company using the equity method of accounting recorded 49% of

GSPs net income or loss to its Consolidated Statement of Operations as Income Loss from Joint Ventures

In December 2007 GSPs remaining assets were sold and it ceased operations
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following

Depreciable
As of December 31

Lives 2008 2007

Land 10824 9954

Land improvements 10 1453 1302

Buildings and improvements 30 68091 63605

Machinery and equipment 5-15 100901 88786

Furniture and fixtures 4934 4947

Computer equipment 7338 8245

Vehicles 29 33

Construction in progress 17755 6978

$211325 $183850

Less accumulated depreciation 97820 94199

Net property and equipment $113505 89651

Construction in progress as of December 31 2008 primarily consisted of capitalized costs associated with the

Companys new information system which began implementation in 2009 and ongoing construction projects in

Winder Georgia Chambersburg Pennsylvania and Sumter South Carolina

Construction in progress as of December 31 2007 primarily consisted of capitalized costs associated with the

Companys new information system

Inventories

Steel inventories consisted of the following

As of December 31

2008 2007

Unprocessed $211246 $133319

Processed and finished 44054 45211

Totals $255300 $178530

Debt

Credit Facility

The Companys secured bank-financing agreement the Credit Facility is revolving credit facility collat

eralized by the Companys accounts receivable inventories and substantially all of its property and equipment

Borrowings are limited to the lesser of borrowing base comprised of eligible receivables and inventories or

$130000 in the aggregate May 2008 amendment extended the maturity date of the Credit Facility to

December 15 2011 with annual extensions at the banks option

The Credit Facility requires the Company to comply with various covenants the most significant of which

include minimum availability of $10000 tested monthly ii minimum fixed charge coverage rate of 1.25

and maximum leverage ratio of 1.75 which are tested quarterly iiirestrictions on additional indebtedness and

iv limitations on dividends capital expenditures and investments At December 31 2008 the Company had

approximately $88152 of availability under the Credit Facility and the Company was in compliance with its

covenants The Credit Facility also contains an accordion feature which allows the Company to add up to $25000 of

additional revolver capacity
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Outstanding checks are included as part of Accounts Payable on the accompanying Consolidated Balance

Sheets and such checks totaled $20256 as of December 31 2008 and $13900 as of December 31 2007

Scheduled Debt Maturities Interest Debt Carrying Values

The Company has no outstanding term loans The overall effective interest rate for all debt amounted to 4.5%

7.4% and 7.5% in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Interest paid totaled $1484 $3392 and $2456 for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Average total debt outstanding was $41894 $46389 and

$41549 in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

The Company has not entered into interest rate transactions for speculative purposes or otherwise The

Company does not hedge its exposure to floating interest rate risk However the Company has the option to enter

into 30- to 180- day fixed base rate Euro loans under the Credit Facility

Income Taxes

The components of the Companys provision benefit for income taxes from continuing operations were as

follows

2008 2007 2006

Current

Federal $37963 $14665 $17776

State and Local 6750 2158 3230

44713 16823 21006

Deferred 4317 1588 2648

$40396 $15235 $18358

The components of the Companys deferred income taxes at December 31 are as follows

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Inventory 1197 617

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 1270 1951

Allowance for doubtful accounts 419 542

Other 83 83

Accrued expenses 8863 5196

11832 8389

Valuation reserve 296 337

Total deferred tax assets 11536 8052

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment 6440 6587

Intangibles 1187 742

Other 261 1392

Total deferred tax liabilites 7888 8721

Deferred tax assets liabilities net 3648 669

The Company adopted the provision of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.48 Account

ingfor Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation ofFASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 on January 12007 The

adoption of FIN 48 did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements
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The following table summarizes the 2008 activity related to our gross unrecognized tax benefits

2008 2007

Balance as of the beginning of the year $3059 773

Increases related to prior year tax positions 1613 276

Decreases related to prior year tax positions 92
Increases related to current year tax positions 2035

Decreases related to settlements with taxing authorities

Decreases related to lapsing of statute of limitations 202 25

Balance as of the end of the year $4378 $3059

It is expected that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in the next twelve months however the

Company does not expect the change to have significant impact on its results of operations or financial position

The tax years 2005-2007 remain open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is

subject

The Company recognized interest related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense As of December 31
2008 and December 31 2007 the Company had approximately $494 and $342 of gross accrued interest related to

uncertain tax positions respectively

The following table reconciles the U.S federal statutory rate to the Companys effective tax rate

2008 2007 2006

U.S federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and local taxes net of federal benefit 3.7% 1.9% 1.6%

Sec 199 manufacturing deduction 1.6% l.2% 1.0%

All other net 0.3% 1.9% 1.6%

Effective income tax rate 37.4% 37.6% 37.2%

Taxes paid in 2008 2007 and 2006 totaled $44703 $11699 and $19255 respectively Some subsidiaries of

the Companys consolidated group file state tax returns on separate company basis and have state net operating

loss carryforwards expiring over the next seven to 20 years valuation allowance is recorded to reduce certain

deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized

Retirement Plans

The Companys retirement plans consist of 401k plan covering non-union employees two separate

401k plans covering all union employees and supplemental executive retirement plan SERP covering certain

executive officers of the Company

Company contributions to the non-union profit-sharing plan are discretionary amounts as determined annually

by the Board of Directors The 401k retirement plans allow eligible employees to contribute up to the statutory

maximum The Companys 401k matching contribution is determined annually by the Board of Directors and is

based on percentage of eligible employees earnings and contributions For the non-union 401k retirement plan

in 20082007 and 2006 the Company matched one-half of each eligible employees contribution limited to the first

6% of eligible compensation The Companys discretionary profit sharing contribution is determined annually by

the Board of Directors

Company contributions for each of the last three years for the union plans were 3% of eligible W-2 wages plus

one half of the first 4% of each employees contribution

In 2005 the Board of Directors adopted the SERP Contributions to the SERP are based on portion of the

participants compensation multiplied by 13% and ii portion of the participants compensation multiplied by

factor which is contingent upon the Companys return on invested capital Benefits are subject to vesting schedule

of up to five years
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Retirement plan expense which includes all Company 401k profit-sharing and SERP contributions

amounted to $3950 $3019 and $2450 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Shares Outstanding and Earnings Per Share

2008 2007 2006

In thousands except per share data

Weighted average basic shares outstanding 10847 10628 10383

Assumed exercise of stock options and issuance of stock

awards 48 135 250

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 10895 10763 10633

Net income $67702 $25270 $31048

Basic earnings per share 6.24 2.38 2.99

Diluted earnings per share 6.21 2.35 2.92

As of December 31 2008 the Company had 18526 anti-dilutive performance-earned restricted stock units

outstanding The Company has no anti-dilutive securities outstanding as of December 31 2006 or 2007

10 Stock Options

In January 1994 the Stock Option Plan Option Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by

the shareholders of the Company Pursuant to the provisions of the Option Plan key employees of the Company

non-employee directors and consultants may be offered the opportunity to acquire shares of common stock by the

grant
of stock options including both incentive stock options ISOs and nonqualified stock options ISOs are not

available to non-employee directors or consultants total of 1300000 shares of common stock were reserved

under the Option Plan To the extent possible shares of treasury stock are used to satisfy shares resulting from the

exercise of stock options The purchase price of share of common stock pursuant to an ISO will not be less than the

fair market value of share of common stock at the grant date Options vest over periods ranging from six months to

five years
and all expire 10 years after the grant date

The Option Plan terminated on January 2009 Termination of the Option Plan did not affect outstanding

options As of December 31 2008 there were no remaining shares of common stock available for grant under the

Option Plan

On January 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 23-R SFAS No 23-R Share-Based Payment and elected to use the modified prospective transition method

The modified prospective transition method requires that compensation cost be recognized in the financial

statements for all awards granted after the date of adoption as well as for existing awards for which the requisite

service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption The modified prospective transition does not require prior

periods to be restated Prior to the adoption of SFAS No 123-R the Company accounted for stock-based

compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting Principals Board Opinion No 25

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and related Interpretations The Company has elected to use the short

cut method to calculate the historical pooi of windfall tax benefits upon adoption of SFAS No 123-R The election

to use the short-cut method had no effect on the Companys financial statements
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The following table summarized the effect of SFAS No 123-R on the results of operations

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31 2008 December 31 2007 December 31 2006

Stock option expense before

taxes 210 150 127

Stock option expense after

taxes 132 93 80

Impact per basic share $0.01 $0.01 $0.01

Impact per diluted share $0.01 $0.01 $0.01

All pre-tax charges related to stock option expense were included in the caption Administrative and general
on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations SFAS No 123-R requires the cash flow resulting

from the tax deduction in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options to be classified as financing

cash flows For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 tax benefits realized from option exercises

totaled $1.8 million $3.2 million and $2.4 million respectively

The fair value of each option grant was estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model with the following weighted-average assumptions

2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate n/a 4.58% n/a

Expected life in years n/a 10 n/a

Expected volatility n/a 57.70% n/a

Expected dividend yield n/a 0.40% n/a

The expected volatility assumption was derived by referring to changes in the Companys historical common
stock price over timeframe similar to that of the expected life of the award

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2007 was $22.55 No options were granted during

2008 or 2006

The following table summarizes stock-based award activity during the
year ended December 31 2008

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Number of Shares Price Contractual Term Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at

December 31 2007 203807 $10.99

Granted

Exercised 133800 7.97

Canceled

Outstanding at

December 31 2008 70007 $16.75 5.75 years $550

Exercisable at

December 31 2008 49893 $12.15 4.96 years $509

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

was $4786 $8400 and $6300 respectively Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options exclusive of

income tax benefits were $1066 $1500 and $1600 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006
respectively Income tax benefits of $1819 $3200 and $2400 were realized from stock option exercises during the

years ended December 31 20082007 and 2006 respectively The fair value of options vested during the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 totaled $210 $150 and $146 respectively
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11 Restricted Stock Units and Performance Share Units

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 27 2007 the shareholders of the Company approved the

Olympic Steel 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan the Plan The Plan authorizes the Company to grant stock options

stock appreciation rights restricted shares restricted share units performance shares and other stock- and cash-

based awards to employees and Directors of and consultants to the Company and its affiliates Under the Plan

500000 shares of common stock are available for equity grants

On May 2007 and January 2008 the Compensation Committee of the Companys Board of Directors

approved the grant of 1800 restricted stock units RSUs to each non-employee director Subject to the terms of the

Plan and the RSU agreement the RSUs vested after one year of service from the date of grant The RSUs are not

converted into shares of common stock until the director either resigns or is terminated from the Board of Directors

The Compensation Committee of the Companys Board of Directors also granted 32378 and 34379

performance-earned restricted stock units PERSUs to the senior management of the Company on May

2007 and January 2008 respectively The PERSUs may be earned based on the Companys performance over

periods ranging from 32 to 36 months from the date of grant and would be converted into shares of common stock

based on the achievement of two separate financial measures the Companys EBITDA 50% weighted and

return on invested capital 50% weighted No shares will be earned unless the threshold amounts for the

performance measures are met Up to 150% of the targeted amount of PERSUs may be earned

The following table summarizes the activity related to RSUs and PERSUs for the twelve months ended

December 31 2008

RSUs PERSUs

Vested Unvested Vested Unvested

Balance as of January 2008 9000 32378

Granted 9000 34379

Vested 9000 9000

Forfeited

Balance as of December 31 2008 9000 9000 66757

Under SFAS No 23-R stock compensation expense recognized on RSUs and PERSUs is summarized in the

following table

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

December 31 2008 December 31 2007

RSU and PERSU expense before taxes $1438 690

RSU and PERSU expense
after taxes 900 $430

Impact per basic share 0.08 $0.04

Impact per diluted share 0.08 $0.04

All pre-tax charges related to RSUs and PERSUs were included in the caption Administrative and General

on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations

12 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases certain warehouses sales offices and machinery and equipment under long-term lease

agreements All leases are classified as operating and expire at various dates through 2016 In some cases the leases

include options to extend Rent and lease expense was $5010 $4223 and $3547 for the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively
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Future minimum lease payments as of December 31 2008 are as follows

2009 4308

2010 3538

2011 2456

2012 1481

2013 810

Thereafter 564

$13 157

The Company is party to various legal actions that it believes are ordinary in nature and incidental to the

operation of its business In the opinion of management the outcome of the proceedings to which the Company is

currently party will not have material adverse effect upon its results of operations financial condition or cash

flows

In the normal course of business the Company periodically enters into agreements that incorporate indem

nification provisions While the maximum amount to which the Company may be exposed under such agreements

can not be estimated it is the opinion of management that these indemnifications are not expected to have material

adverse effect on the Companys results of operations or financial condition

As of December 31 2008 approximately 175 of the Companys hourly plant personnel at its Minneapolis and

Detroit facilities are represented by four separate collective bargaining units collective bargaining agreement

covering approximately five Detroit maintenance workers was extended to July 31 2009 Collective bargaining

agreements covering other employees expire in 2009 and subsequent years

13 Related Party Transactions

related entity owns one of the Cleveland warehouses and leases it to the Company at an annual rental of

$195 The lease was renewed in June 2000 for 10-year term with one remaining renewal option for an additional

10 years

Director of the Company serves on the Board of Advisors for firm that provides psychological testing

profiles for new hires to the Company Fees paid to the firm totaled $29 $11 and $11 in 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively

14 Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities for 2006

In May 2006 the Company purchased the remaining 51% interest in the GSP joint venture and in June 2006
the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of PSW In conjunction with these acquisitions liabilities were

assumed as follows

PSW GSP

Fair value of assets acquired including goodwill $17562 $5419

Termination of existing equity method investment in joint venture 63
Cash paid for stock/ownership interest 8965 100

Liabilities assumed 8597 $5256

15 Shareholder Rights Plan

On January 31 2000 the Companys Board of Directors approved the adoption of share purchase rights plan

The terms and description of the plan are set forth in rights agreement dated January 31 2000 between the

Company and National City Bank as rights agent the Rights Agreement The Board of Directors declared

dividend distribution of one right for each share of common stock of the Company outstanding as of the March
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2000 record date The Rights Agreement also provides subject to specified exceptions and limitations that

common stock issued or delivered from the Companys treasury after the record date will be accompanied by right

Each right entitles the holder to purchase one-one-hundredth of share of Series Junior Participating Preferred

stock without par value at price of $20 per one one-hundredth of preferred share Right The Rights expire on

March 2010 unless earlier redeemed exchanged or amended Rights become exercisable to purchase preferred

shares following the commencement of certain tender offer or exchange offer solicitations resulting in beneficial

ownership of 15% or more of the Companys outstanding common shares as defined in the Rights Agreement

On September 16 2008 the Company adopted Amendment to the Rights Agreement The Amendment

removed National City Bank as rights agent appointed Mellon Investor Services LLC as successor rights agent

modified several provisions related to duties obligations and liabilities of the rights agent and changed the Rights

Purchase Price from $20 to $170
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Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

in thousands

Additions

Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at

Beginning Costs and Other End of

Description of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period

Year Ended December 31 2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts $2169 $1044 $2025 $1188

Tax valuation reserve 989 1347 2336

Year Ended December 31 2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts 1188 493 254 1427

Tax valuation reserve 2336 1999 337

Year Ended December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts 1427 1378 1702 1103

Tax valuation reserve 337 41 296
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unaudited Quarterly Results of Operations

in thousands except per share amounts

2008 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Year

Net sales $274875 $363514 $335222 $253634 $1227245

Operating income 21227 47329 37797 2893 109246

Income before income taxes 21200 47169 37447 2282 108098

Net income 13161 29598 24167 776 67702

Basic net income per share 1.22 2.73 2.22 0.07 6.24

Weighted average shares outstanding basic 10771 10857 10871 10871 10847

Diluted net income per share 1.21 2.70 2.21 0.07 6.21

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted 10851 10946 10952 10894 10895

Market price of common stock

High 45.88 78.32 74.46 29.98 78.32

Low 26.82 44.26 27.15 12.00 12.00

2007 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Year

Net sales $259405 $277413 $256089 $236056 $1028963

Operating income 9410 15871 10678 7365 43324

Income before income taxes 8383 15018 10038 7066 40505

Net income 5252 9446 6029 4543 25270

Basic net income per share 0.50 0.89 0.56 0.42 2.38

Weighted average shares outstanding basic 10435 10603 10727 10728 10628

Diluted net income per share 0.49 0.88 0.56 0.42 2.35

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted 10664 10753 10821 10814 10763

Market price of common stock

High 31.72 34.99 31.59 33.20 34.99

Low 21.03 28.54 21.79 23.00 21.03

Represents the high and low sales quotations of our Common Stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Select

Market
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Evaluations required by Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of the effectiveness of the

Companys disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15e under the Exchange Act as of the end

of the period covered by this Annual Report have been carried out under the supervision and with the participation

of the Companys management including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Based upon such

evaluations the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Companys disclosure

controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 2008 in providing reasonable assurance that information

required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded processed

summarized and reported within time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC Disclosure controls

and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to

be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Act is accumulated and communicated to the

issuers management including its principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing

similar functions as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting is set forth in Part II Item of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP the Companys independent

registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting that is set forth in Part II Item of this Annual Report and is incorporated herein by reference

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting during the quarter

ended December31 2008 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys
internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Information required by Item 10 as to the executive officers is provided in Part of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference into this section Other information required by Item 10 will be

incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the Companys definitive proxy statement for its

2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by Item 11 will be incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the

Companys definitive proxy statement for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
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ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by Item 12 will be incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the

Companys definitive proxy statement for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by Item 13 will be incorporated herein by reference to the information set in the

Companys definitive proxy statement for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by Item 14 will be incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the

Companys definitive proxy statement for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a1 The following financial statements are included in Part II Item

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity for the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

a2 Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

a3 Exhibits The Exhibits filed herewith are set forth on the Index to Exhibits filed as part of this Annual

Report and incorporated herein by reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized

OLYMPIC STEEL INC

March 2009

By Is/ RICHARD MMmTo
Richard Marabito

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below

by the following persons in the capacities indicated and on the 2nd day of March 2009

1st MIcHARL SinGAI March 2009

Michael Siegal

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Is DAVID W0LF0RT March 2009

David Wolfort

President Chief Operating Officer and Director

/s/ RICHARD MAImTo March 2009

Richard Marabito

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer

Is Rjpu DELLA RArrA JR March 2009

Ralph Della Ratta Jr Director

Is Mp.wriN ELRAD March 2009

Martin Elrad Director

Is THOMAS F0RMAN March 2009

Thomas Forman Director

/s JAMEs MEATHE March 2009

James Meathe Director

Is HowARD G0LD5mIN March 2009

Howard Goldstein Director

The undersigned by signing his name hereto does sign and execute this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to

the Powers of Attorney executed by the above-named officers and directors of the Company and filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on behalf of such officers and directors

By Is RICHARD MARABrro March 2009

Richard Marabito Attorney-in-Fact
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OLYMPIC STEEL INC

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

1u Amended and Restated Code of Regulations

4.1 Notice of Removal of Rights Agent and

Appointment of Successor Rights Agent and

Amendment dated as of September 16 2008

by and among the Company National City

Bank and Mellon Investor Services LLC to the

Rights Amendment dated as of January

2000

4.7 Rights Agreement dated as of January 31 2000

Including Form of Certificate of Adoption of

Amendment to Amended Articles of

Incorporation as Exhibit thereto together

with Summary of Rights to Purchase

Preferred Stock

4.18 Second Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement dated as of May 28 2008 by and

among the Company the financial institutions

from time to time party thereto and Comerica

Bank as Administrative Agent

10.1 Olympic Steel Inc Stock Option Plan

10.2 Lease dated as of July 1980 as amended
between S.M.S Realty Co lessor and the

Registrant as lessee relating to one of the

Cleveland facilities

10.3 Intentionally omitted

10.4 Lease dated as of November 30 1987 as

amended between Tinicum Properties

Associates L.P as lessor and the Registrant as

lessee relating to Registrants Lester

Pennsylvania facility

10.7 Operating Agreement of OLP LLC dated

April 1997 by and between the U.S Steel

Group of USX Corporation and Oly Steel

Welding Inc

10.8 Form of Management Retention Agreement for

Senior Executive Officers of the Company

10.9 Form of Management Retention Agreement for

Other Officers of the Company

Reference

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to

Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-8 No 333-1439001 the S-8

Registration Statement filed with the

Commission on June 20 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1u to

the S-i Registration Statement filed with the

Commission on January 12 1994

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on September 19 2008

Commission File No 0-23320

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on February 15 2000

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to

Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on June 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

S-i Registration Statement filed with the

Commission on January 12 1994

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

S-i Registration Statement filed with the

Commission on January 12 1994

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

S-i Registration Statement filed with the

Commission on January 12 1994

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to

Registrants Form iO-Q filed with the

Commission on May 1997

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to

Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Commission on August 2000

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to

Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Commission on August 2000

Exhibit

3.1i

Description of Document

Amended and Restated Articles of

Incorporation
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Exhibit Description of Document Reference

10.10 David Wolfort Employment Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to

effective as of January 2006 Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on December 23 2005

10.12 Michael Siegal Employment Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to

dated August 2006
Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Commission on August 2006

10.13 Richard Marabito Employment Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to

dated August 2006
Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Conmiission on August 2006

10.14 Olympic Steel Inc Executive Deferred Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to

Compensation Plan dated December 15 2004 Registrants Form 10-K filed with the

Commission on March 14 2005

10.15 Form of Non-Solicitation Agreements Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to

Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on March 2005

10.16 Form of Management Retention Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to

Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Commission on August 2005

10.17 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Term Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to

Sheet Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on January 2006

10.18 Summary of Non-Employee Director Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to

Compensation Registrants Form 10-K filed with the

Commission on March 15 2006

10.19 Summary of Senior Management Compensation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to

Plan
Registrants Form 10-K filed with the

Commission on March 15 2006

10.20 Olympic Steel Inc Supplemental Executive Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to

Retirement Plan Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on April 28 2006

10.21 Olympic Steel Inc 2007 Omnibus Incentive Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to

Plan
Registrants Form 8-K filed with the

Commission on May 2007

10.22 Form of Performance-Earned Restricted Stock Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to

Unit PERS Unit Agreement for Messrs Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Siegal Wolfort and Marabito Commission on August 2007

10.23 Form of Performance-Earned Restricted Stock Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to

Unit PERS Unit Agreement for Mr Manson Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

and Ms Potash Commission on August 2007

10.24 Amendment to Management Retention Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to

Agreement with Richard Marabito dated Registrants Form 10-K filed with the

March 13 2008 Commission on March 14 2008

10.25 Form of Performance-Earned Restricted Stock Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to

Unit PERS Unit Agreement for Messrs Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

Siegal Wolfort and Marabito Commission on May 2008

10.26 Form of Performance-Earned Restricted Stock Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to

Unit PERS Unit Agreement for Mr Manson Registrants Form 10-Q filed with the

and Ms Potash Commission on May 2008

21 List of Subsidiaries Filed herewith

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Filed herewith

Accounting Firm
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Exhibit Description of Document Reference

24 Directors and Officers Powers of Attorney Filed herewith

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Filed herewith

of the Company as adopted pursuant to Section

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Filed herewith

of the Company as adopted pursuant to Section

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Written Statement of Michael Siegal Furnished herewith

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the

Company pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Written Statement of Richard Marabito Furnished herewith

Chief Financial Officer of the Company

pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

This exhibit is management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C 78ma or 780d

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Michael Siegal certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Olympic Steel Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 15d- 15f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in

which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the

period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an

annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal

control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

By Is MICHAEL SIEGAL

Michael Siegal

Olympic Steel Inc

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 2009



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C 78ma or 78od
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Richard Marabito certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Olympic Steel Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 15d-i 51 for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others wjthin those entities particularly during the period in

which this annual report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the

period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an

annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal

control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process
summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

By 1st RICHARD MARABITO

Richard Marabito

Olympic Steel Inc

Chief Financial Officer

March 2009



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Michael Siegal the Chainnan Chief Executive Officer of Olympic Steel Inc the Company certify that

to the best of my knowledge based upon review of this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended

December 31 2008 of the Company the Report

The Report fuily complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company

By Is MICHAEL SIEGAL

Michael Siegal

Olympic Steel Inc

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

March 2009



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Richard Marabito the ChiefFinancial Officer of Olympic Steel Inc the Company certify that to the best

of my knowledge based upon review of this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31 2008

of the Company the Report

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company

By 1st RICHARD MARABITO

Richard Marabito

Olympic Steel Inc

Chief Financial Officer

March 2009



ABOUT THE COMPANY

Founded in 1954 Olympic Steel is leading U.S Steel service center that specializes in

the direct sale and distribution of large volumes of processed carbon coated and stainless flat-

rolled sheet coil and plate steel products These products are purchased from domestic and

international steel producers processed and inventoried by Olympic and delivered just-in-time

to diverse customer base Olympic serves customers in most carbon steel consuming indus

tries including manufacturers and fabricators of transportation and material handling equipment

construction and farm machinery storage tanks environmental and energy generation equip

ment automobiles food service and electrical equipment military vehicles and equipment as

well as general and plate fabricators and steel service centers

Olympic Steel offers variety of processing services including both traditional service

center processes of cutting-to-length slitting and shearing and higher value-added processes of

blanking tempering plate burning precision machining welding fabrication and painting of

steel parts The Companys ability to manage diversified business in an otherwise cyclical

industry enables it to respond to customer needs

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In thousands except per share and ratio data

2008 2007 Chane
For the Year

Tons sold 1165 1248 83
Netsales 1227245 1028963 198282

Operating income 109246 43324 65922

Net income 67702 25270 42432

Net income per diluted share 6.21 2.35 3.86

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 10814 10763 51

Capital expenditures 33759 12498 21261

At Year End

Inventories 255300 178530 76770

Accounts receivable 77737 88414 10677

Total assets 474247 386083 88164

Total debt 40198 16707 23491

Shareholders equity 322958 263520 59.438

Shareholders equity per share 29.73 24.56 5.17

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.12 0.06 0.06

Net Sales

in 000s
$1227245

$981004
$1028963

2006 2007 2008

Operating Income

in 000s

$109246

2006 2007 2008
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